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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Mengyao (Chairman) (appointed on 9 August 2023,
re-designated as Co Chairman on 28 December 2023 and
re-designated as Chairman on |9 January 2024)

Mr. Liu Mingqing (Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 22 August 2023,
re-designated as Chairman on |8 December 2023 and
re-designated as Co Chairman on 28 December 2023)

Mr. Lu Xingwu (appointed on 28 December 2023)

Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
on 22 August 2023 and re-designated as Executive Director
on 19 March 2024)

Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Pang Zhen

Ms. Yan Ming (appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
on 23 August 2023 and re-designated as Executive Director
on 19 March 2024)

Mr. Yuan Limin (resigned on 23 August 2023)

Mr. Huang Zhi fang (resigned on 24 July 2023)

Mr. Long Jinbo (appointed on 18 December 2023 and resigned
on 19 March 2024)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Yang Xilin (appointed on 23 August 2023)

Mr. Lou Tao (appointed on 18 December 2023)

Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on 19 March 2024)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
Ms. Yang Xilin (Chairman) (appointed on 23 August 2023)

Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on 19 March 2024)
Mr. Wang Zhenyu (appointed on 19 March 2024)

Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023 and
resigned on |9 March 2024)

Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023)

Dr. Zhao, Shawn Xiaohong (resigned on 23 August 2023)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Yang Xilin (Chairman) (appointed on 23 August 2023 and

re-designated as Chairman on |9 March 2024)
Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on 19 March 2024)
Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023)

Ms. Yan Ming (appointed on 23 August 2023 and
resigned on |9 March 2024)

Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023)
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Mr. Zheng Yu (Chairman) (appointed on |9 March 2024)
Ms. Yang Xilin (appointed on 23 August 2023)

Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023 and
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Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN W& DM

On behalf of King International Investment Limited (the “Company”),
| present to the shareholders the results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2024.

OVERVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in healthcare products
and services business, money lending business and sales of liquor Business.

On one hand, the Company, through its subsidiaries, provides medical
supplies including medical thermometers, masks, protective clothing,
disinfectant, virus testing kits and reagents, breathing machines and other
medical products, and also provides value-added services in respect of the
procurement of such medical supplies and products including providing
market intelligence, sourcing of bids, comparative assessment of technical
specifications and cost analysis, and negotiation of terms of supply.

The Group is committed to developing domestic healthcare equipment
service business. Taking advantage of its own advantages, the Group
integrates health data analysis software and healthcare equipment to
provide new healthcare services and products business, which has been
recognized by the industry. The Group also expands its business to trading
of hygiene products to ride on the demand for personal and household
hygiene due to the growing awareness among consumers in the wake
of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group continues to expand its genetic
testing service both in Hong Kong and overseas. COVID-19 infection
prevention has increased the demand of hygiene and health products.
The Group will continue to extend the health and hygiene product supply
by continuously developing health data analysis products and innovative
medical technology products, and sourcing different types of safe personal
and household hygiene products.
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On the other hand, in order to create value and bring higher returns to
the shareholders of the Company, the Board has been actively exploring
new business opportunities suitable for the Company. During the year, the
Company started to engage in the sales of liquor business to ride on the
potential growth in demand for wine in the PRC associated with a higher
living standard in the PRC. It is expected that this new business segment
will help generate stable cashflows and will be a good opportunity for the
Group to diversify its business and income streams which will ultimately
improve the financial performance and profitability of the Group.

In September 2023, the Group obtained the exclusive sub-licence to use
the trademark and brand of “Diwangchi” (% E ) liquor in the PRC,
and commenced the sales of Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand.

With consumption upgrading and the continued prosperity of the liquor
market, the market for Maotai-flavor liquor has broad prospects. As a
leader in the industry, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand is expected to gradually become one of the mainstream brands in
the market with its excellent quality, exquisite brewing technology and

exquisite packaging design.

In terms of quality, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi” brand
follows family secret brewing, adheres to the pure grain solid-state
fermentation process, and maintains the typical style of “Diwangchi”.
Its excellent quality and innovative marketing model have received
widespread attention from the industry.

With its advantages of high quality, exquisite craftsmanship, innovative
marketing and celebrity effect, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the
“Diwangchi” brand is gradually emerging in the liquor market and is
expected to become an important member of the industry in the future.
In addition, the Group has huge reserve of aged Kunsha base wine which
is the foundation of high quality for production of the Maotai-flavor liquor
under the “Diwangchi” brand, resulting in a strong foundation for the
promotion and sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand. Therefore, sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand will become a significant part of the Group’s revenue.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW BHERE
Continuing operations HERERD
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BEZz-ZE-@m#E BHE-_ZT_-=F
ZRA=t—-H =A=+—H
ILEFE IEFE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FRET TET
Revenue Yz 233,68l 223,853
Cost of sales and services i & K R 75 B R (195,892) (211,804)
Gross profit E 7 37,789 12,049
Bank interest income ;AT BHA I 10
Other income and gains Hfth A R &= 6,450 [,743
Selling, distribution, administrative and ~ $§%& * 285 « 1T &
other expenses H Al X (20,355) (44,799)
Share of result of associates NEBERRZER (15) 228
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AR A (EE) 23,870 (30,709)
Profit/(loss) per share BREF/(E18)
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — ERREECE) 0.96 (1.71)
Revenue 1§

For the year ended 3| March 2024, the Group recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$233.68 million (year ended 31 March 2023:
approximately HK$223.85 million), representing an increase of
approximately 4.39% as compared with the corresponding period last
year.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded gross profit
of approximately HK$37.79 million (year ended 31 March 2023:
approximately HK$12.05 million). The Group's overall gross profit margin
was 16.17% (year ended 31 March 2023: 5.38%). During the year ended
31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group's overall gross profit was primarily
attributable to the sales of liquor which is with higher gross profit margin.
This year approximately 51.29% of sales generated from sales of liquor
(year ended 31 March 2023: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$I5.11
million (year ended 31 March 2023: loss of approximately HK$31.75
million). The profit was mainly attributable to the new sales of liquor
segment, which generated a segment profit of approximately HK$28.04
million and the decrease in administrative and other expenses of
approximately HK$24.51 million.

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2024
was approximately HK0.96 cents (year ended 31 March 2023: basic and
diluted loss per share of approximately HKI.71 cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Healthcare products and services business

Over the years, the Group has built up its experience in the operation of
and understanding in the business environment of the healthcare industry
in the PRC and, as such, the healthcare business became an important
contributor to the Group's revenue. Due to the allocation of resources
for the new business of the Group, the segment revenue of the healthcare
business has dropped by approximately 49.13% to HK$!13.78 million as

compared to that of last year.

The Group’s genetic testing business and other health products and
services business are complimentary to each other and create synergy for
the Group's healthcare businesses as a whole. The customers and business
partners of these businesses are local governments, national institutions
and organizations, hospitals and doctors and other overlapping customers,
the Company can expand its sales network and cross-sell products in all
its businesses, thereby achieving economies of scale and enrich customer
structure. For the year ended 31 March 2024, this segment recorded a
turnover of HK$113.78 million (year ended 31 March 2023: HK$223.66
million) and segment loss of HK$3.17 million during the year ended 3|
March 2024 (year ended 31 March 2023: loss HK$16.12 million). The
decrease in segment loss was primarily attributable to the reduction in

revenue generated from healthcare services business during the year.
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Money lending business

The Group currently has a money lender license in Hong Kong under the
Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for
developing its money lending business to generate interest income for
the Group. The gross profit margin generated from the money lending
business has been the highest amongst the principal businesses of the
Group owing to its low cost of funding. However, the money lending
business recorded a loss for the year ended 31 March 2024 because of the
limited interest income owing to the downsize of the loan portfolio.

During the vear ended 31 March 2024, money lending business recorded
a turnover of interest income of HK$0.05 million (year ended 31 March
2023: HK$0.19 million). Gross profit is 100% for both periods since
no cost of finance were required under the money lending business.
The source of funding is primarily from share capital which is a definite
advantage for this business. The segment result covers internal cost
allocation from central management and administrative costs. However,
the money lending business is competitive and challenging and the relevant
compliance work is demanding. The Group will leverage on the existing
clients portfolio and referrals by customers and business associates to
access to new customers and opportunities in money lending business.

The Group's money lending business mainly focuses on short-term
loans, both secured and unsecured, with loan period not exceeding 12
months. Most of the customers are corporate customers. The Group
will charge market interest rate on the loans after taking into account
of the creditworthiness and collaterals of the customers. To cope with
the keen market competition, the Group focuses on existing customers
and leverages on them and their business associates for referral of new
customers. This enables the Group to build up its customers’ portfolio

gradually.
The Group did not grant any new loan during the year ended 31 March

2024. The remaining loan was settled during the year and thus there was
no outstanding loan as at 31 March 2024.
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Before granting loans to potential borrowers, the Group performs credit
assessment process to assess the potential borrowers’ credit quality and
defines the credit limits granted to them. The credit assessment process
encompasses assessment on the financial background of the potential
borrowers, as well as the value and nature of the collaterals to be
pledged. The credit limits of loans successfully granted to the borrowers
are reviewed by the management as part of the ongoing loan monitoring
process.

The Group has a loan approval policy in place which covers information
collection, approval limits, loan approval procedures and loan collection

guidelines as follows:

[ Information collection and verification: documents and information

provided by the loan applicant will be verified;

2. Assessment: credit assessment on the loan applicant will be
performed with reference to the financial background and value of
the collateral provided (if any);

3. Approval: if the loan application is approved, the Group will arrange
preparation and signing of the loan documentations and ensure their
proper execution, including drawdown of the loan amounts by the
applicant; and

4. Collection: will make calls and send reminders to borrower for
overdue loan repayment and when there is a default of loan
repayment, will take appropriate enforcement action, including legal
action, to recover the loan.

Sales of liquor business

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated I
August 2023, 13 September 2023, 2| September 2023, 22 November
2023 and 26 January 2024.
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In order to create value and bring higher returns to the shareholders
of the Company, the Board has been actively exploring new business
opportunities suitable for the Company. During the year, the Company
started to engage in the sales of liquor business to ride on the potential
growth in demand for wine in the PRC associated with a higher living
standard in the PRC. It is expected that this new business segment will
help generate stable cashflows and will be a good opportunity for the
Group to diversify its business and income streams which will ultimately
improve the financial performance and profitability of the Group.

In September 2023, the Group obtained the exclusive sub-licence to use
the trademark and brand of “Diwangchi” (% E ) liquor in the PRC,
and commenced the sales of Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand. For the year ended 3| March 2024, this segment recorded a
turnover of HK$119.84 million and a segment profit of HK$28.04 million
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

With consumption upgrading and the continued prosperity of the liquor
market, the market for Maotai-flavor liquor has broad prospects. As a
leader in the industry, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand is expected to gradually become one of the mainstream brands in
the market with its excellent quality, exquisite brewing technology and
exquisite packaging design.

In terms of quality, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi” brand
follows family secret brewing, adheres to the pure grain solid-state
fermentation process, and maintains the typical style of "“Diwangchi”.
lts excellent quality and innovative marketing model have received

widespread attention from the industry.

With its advantages of high quality, exquisite craftsmanship, innovative
marketing and celebrity effect, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the
“Diwangchi” brand is gradually emerging in the liquor market and is
expected to become an important member of the industry in the future.
In addition, the Group has huge reserve of aged Kunsha base wine which
is the foundation of high quality for production of the Maotai-flavor liquor
under the “Diwangchi” brand, resulting in a strong foundation for the
promotion and sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand. Therefore, sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand will become a significant part of the Group's revenue.
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EXTRACT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The following is an extract from audited financial report of the Company
prepared by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“ZHONGHUI"), the
auditor of the Company, for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of King
International Investment Limited (formerly known as Life Healthcare
Group Limited) (the “Company™) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the "Group”) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including of

material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described
in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Qualified Opinion

l.

14

Interest in associates

@)

The Group acquired 30% equity interest in Guangzhou
Manrui Biotech Company Limited (“Manrui Biotech”)
on 5 August 2016. Manrui Biotech specialises in research
and development of genetic testing technologies, and in
particular non-invasive cancer screening and diagnosis.
At the time of the acquisition, there is an agreement
procuring the Group to exclusively utilize Manrui
Biotech's genetic testing and related technologies (without
monetary consideration). The cost of the investment was
approximately HK$65,129,000. The Group obtained a
valuation price allocation of Manrui Biotech on 5 August
2016 and the investment is recorded as interest in an

associate since the acquisition.

Manrui Biotech's genetic testing and related technologies had
not generated any income in its financial statements since
the Group's acquisition, nor contributed to the Group's
revenue. The Group has fully impaired the investment in
Manrui Biotech during the year ended 31 March 2022,

We were unable to obtain the financial information to
support the basis and assumptions adopted in the valuation
of the purchase price allocation of the associate, as well
as in the valuation in the subsequent year end dates which
were used for impairment assessment of the Group's
interests in Manrui Biotech. Such basis and assumptions
included the forecast of Manrui Biotech, the growth rates
and the discount rates adopted in the valuation. As such, the
value of the genetic testing technologies cannot be reliably
determined.
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We have not vet obtained sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the balance
of translation reserve of that associate of HK$2,163,000
(Credit) were properly recorded as at 31 March 2024 and
2023.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
invested RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$36,990,000) and RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$30,824,000) in two associates, namely
BENEAG(MLRBREEEARAA and ILREAR
ABERMER DT, respectively. The Group holds 25%
equity interests in each of these two associates. These two
associates engaged in healthcare services in the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC"). We were unable to
perform audit works on the financial statements of the two
associates, specifically arrangement of bank confirmations to
confirm the material bank balances of the associates as at 3|
March 2022.

The two associates were de-registered during the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the Group obtained full refund
of the investment costs of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$34,270,000) and RMB25,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$28,558,000) from the two
associates.
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We have not vet obtained sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the gain/(loss) of HK$NIl
on deregistration of the two associates for the year ended
31 March 2023.

Other receivables

Prepayments for healthcare supplies and vehicle remodelling
services

As at 31 March 2023, the Group recorded prepayments for
purchases of approximately HK$98,454,000 to two materials
suppliers (say, suppliers A and B) for purchases of disinfectant
materials, and prepayments of approximately HK$8,081,000 to a
supplier (supplier C) for provision of vehicle remodelling services.

Up to 31 March 2023, the Group has not yet received the
disinfectant materials from both suppliers A & B. In April 2023, the
Group entered into cancellation agreement with Supplier A and
Supplier A was deregistered in the same month. The Group has
requested for full refund of the amounts prepaid of approximately
HK$28,889,000. Up to the date of issuing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 3| March 2023, the Group received
refund of approximately HK$23,333,000 and the remaining
outstanding balance of approximately HK$5,556,000 were
impaired. We were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence about the details of the suppliers and the reasons
for the transaction.

For supplier B, up to 31 March 2023, the Group has not yet
received the disinfectant materials from this supplier. We were
unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about
the reason that no products were received, and whether the
prepayments of approximately HK$69,565,000 can be recoverable.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group received the
disinfectant materials amounted to approximately HK$69,565,000
from Supplier B.
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For supplier C, up to 31 March 2023, no vehicle remodelling
services were received by the Group. We were unable to
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence that whether
the remodelling services will be carried out as planned, and the
recoverability of the amounts of approximately HK$8,081,000
prepaid. During the year ended 3| March 2024, the Group
disposed of the subsidiary which held the prepayment for the
vehicle remodelling services and recorded a gain on disposal of
approximately HK$2,116,000.

In respect of the abovementioned transactions, we were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence or satisfactory
management explanations to ascertain the nature of the
prepayment of approximately HK$28,889,000 and HK$8,081,000
to Supplier A and Supplier C, respectively as at 31 March 2023.

Equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income

The equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income relates to Beijing Life Healthcare Zhongcheng Medical
Technologies Co, Lid( REN R KB ER K ER 2 7))
(the “Investee”), with principal activities such as research and
development of medical technology innovations of genomics, cell
therapy and their application in the field of human health and
precision medicine. As at 26 June 2020, the Group has entered
into a joint venture agreement pursuant to which the Group has
contributed RMB30,000,000 in the Investee, represented 15% of its
share capital.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, we have not obtained
sufficient financial information of the Investee, which form the basis
for assessing the underlying assumptions and calculation of the fair
value of the Investee. The equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income was disposed during the year ended
31 March 2023.
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We were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves as to whether the fair value loss on equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income of
approximately HK$Nil was properly recorded for the year ended
31 March 2023.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group’s financial performance and
cash flows for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 and the
financial positions of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and the
related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

Material Uncertainty Related To Going Concern

The Group had current liabilities of approximately HK$67,652,000,
but the Group only had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$473,000. Besides, the Group had a net operating cash outflow of
approximately HK$32,319,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. These
conditions indicate a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

The Company and the Audit Committee’s View on the Qualified Opinion
of the Independent Auditor’s Report
l. Interest in associates
(@  The full impairment had been made on the investment in
Manrui Biotech, an associate of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

There is no qualification in respect of Manrui Biotech on the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2024. The qualification on the
balance of translation reserve will be removed upon disposal
of Manrui Biotech and the Company is looking for potential
purchaser to sell its equity interest in Manrui Biotech.
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The Audit Committee concurs to the treatment on Manrui
Biotech.

The two associates were de-registered during the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the Group obtained full refund
of the investment costs of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$34,270,000) and RMB25,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$28,558,000) from the two
associates.

The qualification was related to the opening balance
presented under comparative column of the Group's
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023 and
any possible gain/loss on the de-registration of the two
associates for the year ended 31 March 2023 since the
opening balance was qualified. There was no qualification in
respect of these two associates for the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024 and
2023.

The Audit Committee and the management of the Company
concur to the treatments on the investments in these
two associates. Also, the Company intends to disposal the
investment in Manrui Biotech for the year ending 31 March
2025. The Company will make announcement(s) in respect
of any such disposal in compliance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules where appropriate. It is expected that
there will not be any qualification in respect of the interest
in Manrui Biotech for the year ending 31 March 2025 if
the disposal of the investment in Manrui Biotech will be
executed for the year ending 31 March 2025.
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Other receivable

Prepayments for healthcare supplies and vehicle remodelling
services

The Group has prepaid HK$28,889,000 to Supplier A to purchase
disinfectant products. Subsequently, the Group came across the
Supplier B who is the manufacturer of the disinfectant products we
ordered from Supplier A. Supplier B was able to provide us the
products in cheaper cost with more varieties. In April 2023, the
Group has entered into a cancellation agreement with Supplier A
and requested for the refund of HK$28,889,000. The Group then
made the prepayment of HK$69,565,000 to purchase disinfectant
products from Supplier B.

The Company discussed with the auditor that the Group received
a refund of HK$23,333.000 from Supplier A up to the date of this
report. The remaining balance of HK$5,556,000 was impaired for
year ended 3| March 2023.

There will not be any qualification in respect of the prepayment to
Supplier A for the year ending 31 March 2024.

The Audit Committee and the management of the Company
concur to the treatment on the prepayment to Supplier A.

The Company and the auditor has conducted an interview with
Supplier B and visited its production lines in the factory. A product
delivery instruction has been given to Supplier B in June 2023.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group received the
disinfectant products from Supplier B.
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There will not be any qualification in respect of the prepayment to
Supplier B for the year ending 31 March 2024 if the products are
delivered as planned.

The Audit Committee and the management of the Company
concur to the treatment on the prepayment to Supplier B.

The Group has acquired 126 new energy vehicles from Supplier
C and planned to carry out vehicle conversion to initiate basic
public health examination program for the elderly which has
been included in the construction of national basic public health
services sponsored by the government. Owing to the outbreak and
prolonged proliferation of COVID-19 pandemic in PRC, the vehicle
registration process of the 126 vehicles had been taken almost one
year. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group disposed
of the subsidiary which held the prepayment for the vehicle
remodelling services and recorded a gain on the disposal.

There will not be any qualification in respect of the prepayment
to Supplier C for the year ending 31 March 2024 if the vehicle
conversion services are carried out as planned.

The Audit Committee and the management of the Company
concur to the treatment on the prepayment to Supplier C.

It is expected that there will not be any qualification in respect of
the prepayments in relation to the abovementioned suppliers for
the year ending 31 March 2025.

Equity Investment at fair value through comprehensive income

The Group received the consideration of RMB30,000,000 on
disposal of its 5% equity interest in Beijing Life Healthcare
Zhongcheng Medical Technologies Co., Ltd (It REFM R K B &
B BB AE])as at August 2022. The opening balance and the
profit and loss figures is qualified for the year ended 31 March
2022 as presented under the comparative figures of the Group's

profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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The qualification was related to the opening balance presented
under comparative column of the Group's consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023 and any possible gain/
loss on the disposal of this investment for the year ended 3l
March 2023 since the opening balance was qualified. The was
no qualification in respect of this investment for the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023
and 2024.

The Audit Committee and the management of the Company
concur to the treatment on this investment.

It is expected that there will not be any qualification in respect of
the equity investments at fair value through comprehensive income
the year ending 31 March 2025.

PROSPECTS

Healthcare products and services business

Over the years, the Group has built up its experience in the operation of
and understanding in the business environment of the healthcare industry
in the PRC and, as such, the healthcare business became an important
contributor to the Group's revenue. Due to the allocation of resources
for the new business of the Group, the segment revenue of the healthcare
business has dropped by approximately 49.13% to HK$I13.78 million as
compared to that of last year.

The Group's genetic testing business and other health products and
services business are complimentary to each other and create synergy for
the Group's healthcare businesses as a whole. The customers and business
partners of these businesses are local governments, national institutions
and organizations, hospitals and doctors and other overlapping customers,
the Company can expand its sales network and cross-sell products in all
its businesses, thereby achieving economies of scale and enrich customer
structure. For the year ended 31 March 2024, this segment recorded a
turnover of HK$113.78 million (year ended 31 March 2023: HK$223.66
million) and segment loss of HK$3.17 million during the year ended 3|
March 2024 (year ended 31 March 2023: loss HK$16.12 million). The
decrease in segment loss was primarily attributable to the reduction in
revenue generated from healthcare services business during the year. It is
expected that the revenue generated from healthcare services business
will decrease in the future due to the allocation of resources to the sales
of liquor business.
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Money lending business

During the year ended 31 March 2024, money lending business recorded
a turnover of interest income of HK$0.05 million (year ended 31 March
2023: HK$0.19 million). Gross profit is 100% for both periods since
no cost of finance were required under the money lending business.
The source of funding is primarily from share capital which is a definite
advantage for this business. The segment result covers internal cost
allocation from central management and administrative costs. However,
the money lending business is competitive and challenging and the relevant
compliance work is demanding. The Group will leverage on the existing
clients portfolio and referrals by customers and business associates to
access to new customers and opportunities in money lending business.

Sales of liquor business

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated Il
August 2023, 13 September 2023, 2| September 2023, 22 November
2023 and 26 January 2024.

During the year, the Company started to engage in the sales of liquor
business to ride on the potential growth in demand for wine in the PRC
associated with a higher living standard in the PRC. It is expected that
this new business segment will help generate stable cashflows and will be
a good opportunity for the Group to diversify its business and income
streams which will ultimately improve the financial performance and
profitability of the Group.

In September 2023, the Group obtained the exclusive sub-licence to use
the trademark and brand of “Diwangchi” (% E ) liquor in the PRC,
and commenced the sales of Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand. For the year ended 3| March 2024, this segment recorded a
turnover of HK$119.84 million and a segment profit of HK$28.04 million
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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With consumption upgrading and the continued prosperity of the liquor
market, the market for Maotai-flavor liquor has broad prospects. As a
leader in the industry, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand is expected to gradually become one of the mainstream brands in
the market with its excellent quality, exquisite brewing technology and
exquisite packaging design.

In terms of quality, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi” brand
follows family secret brewing, adheres to the pure grain solid-state
fermentation process, and maintains the typical style of “Diwangchi”.
Its excellent quality and innovative marketing model have received

widespread attention from the industry.

With its advantages of high quality, exquisite craftsmanship, innovative
marketing and celebrity effect, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the
“Diwangchi” brand is gradually emerging in the liquor market and is
expected to become an important member of the industry in the future.
In addition, the Group has huge reserve of aged Kunsha base wine which
is the foundation of high quality for production of the Maotai-flavor liquor
under the

“Diwangchi” brand, resulting in a strong foundation for the

promotion and sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand. Therefore, sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”

brand will become a significant part of the Group's revenue.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL ACQUISITION
AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

On 18 December 2023, the vendor, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the disposal agreement with the purchaser
pursuant to which the vendor agreed to sell, and the purchaser agreed to
acquire, the 65% equity interest in Beijing Lian He Health Management
Co, Ltd* (t REAREEE AR AR held by the Vendor for a
consideration of RMB23,600,000. For details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated 22 December 2023.

e For identification purpose only
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL MANDATE
On 3 November 2023, the Company conducted a placing of 160,480,000
new ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each (“Placing Share”) to four individual
placees, at a price of HK$0.06 each to raise a gross proceeds of
approximately HK$9.6 million (the “Placing”). The Placing Shares were
issued under the relevant general mandate granted to the Directors
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 September
2023. The closing price per share of the Company on the Stock Exchange
on 3 November 2023 was HK$0.069. The net price per Placing Share
was approximately HK$0.058. Completion of the Placing took place on
29 November 2023. For further details of the Placing, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 3 November 2023 and 29
November 2023. As at 3| March 2024, the Company had utilized the
entire net proceeds of approximately HK$9.3 million for the enrichment
of the working capital for the expansion or acquisition of channels for the
sales of Maotai-flavor liquor under the "Diwangchi” (7 E ) brand in the
PRC. The net proceeds from the Placing were used as follows:

Intended uses of

EEENWR DA

RE-RREGEHRNR
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FR0.0678 T 2 B 1% ") 19 & 1@ B & B A
Bt £160,480,0000% & % T {H0.057% T 2
TEAR(EERSG) UEEHRER
TR 4858 #99,600,0008 T ((REEE) -
REROBEARAR-_TE-_=FNA
TTAHBOZREBERAERNEER
HZHE—REERT - ARFROR
—E-=F+-AZHEBSHZKT
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BHARSSETL - BEEEHER-Z
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HEFECREUATRE:

Actual use of

proceeds proceeds up to the Unutilised as at the
Intended uses Net proceeds date of this report date of this report
BEXAREAH REAHEEH
R & SE Fr & 5R RBRARE
RERZ RERRZ ERAZ HERH
HK$ HKS$ HKS
BT BT BT
For the expansion or acquisition of channels for the sales
of Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi” (% £ 1)
brand in the PRC 9,300,000 9,300,000 -

HRIWBETFEHREFT I IREERRAE
MRE
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SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 29 November 2023, the Company conducted a subscription of
147,920,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each (“Subscription Share”)
to the three Subscribers at a price of HK$0.065 each to raise a gross
proceeds of approximately HK$9.6 million (the “Subscription”). The
Subscription Shares were issued under the relevant general mandate
granted to the Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 29 September 2023. The closing price per share of the Company
on the Stock Exchange on 29 November 2023 was HK$0.07. The net price
per Subscription Share was approximately HK$0.064. Completion of the
Subscription took place on 12 December 2023. For further details of the
Subscription, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
29 November 2023 and 12 December 2023. As at 31 March 2024, the
Company had utilized the entire net proceeds of approximately HK$9.5
million for the expansion or acquisition of channels for sales of Maotai-
flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi” (% E ) brand in the PRC. The net
proceeds from the Subscription were used as follows:

Intended uses of

BE-REEIBHROG

RZE-_=ZF+—A=-+NH ' KAQH
BEERO0SBE T ZERRA=Z2REA
fic 2% I % 17147,920,000 % & A% @ 80.05
BTz EBER(ABRAE) UEE
P18 2 IE 499,600,000 T ((RBE
B]) RERMBBEARARZZT=_=
FNAZTNARAZBRRBEREM
EERH I BE-—REBEET - AQF
BROR_E-_=F+—H=-+1BxEH
REZETmEAEFRTEL - FRR
BROFELNENABETL  RBEEHE
ER-ZZE-=F+-A+-HEK - &
BRBEH E—SFHE B2HAR
AERA-Z-_=F+—-AZt+hBRK
TR+ RATZHZAM R
T_NF=ZA=+—H KRAEHAH
2 H AT 15 BB F ¥ 499,500,000 7T+ A
hESMELHEEEFI R mEE
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FHEERENTRE

Actual use of

proceeds proceeds up to the Unutilised as at the
Intended uses Net proceeds date of this report date of this report
BEXHERY RAHERH
RERE Fr & SR ABRARE
RERZ RERZ BERAR HEFHE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
For the expansion or acquisition of channels for sales
of Maotai-flavor liquor under the "“Diwangchi” (7 E )
brand in the PRC 9,500,000 9,500,000 -
MRIANBEFEHREF I mEERLQE
MRE
PLEDGE OF ASSETS EEEAHN

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had not pledged any of its assets.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group recognises most of its revenue and incurs most of the
expenditures in RMB or HK$. The Directors consider that the Group’s
foreign currency exchange risk is insignificant as the majority of the
Group's transactions are denominated in functional currency of each
individual group entity. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Group’s management will continue
to monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group seeks to generate profits in its core businesses through the
efficient employment of treasury activities. Treasury activities, if and
when undertaken by the Group, aims to enhance the Group’s return on
surplus cash and to assist those core businesses to run smoothly. Efficient
management of surplus cash is achieved by conducting short-term treasury

activities when opportunities arise.

All subsidiaries should comply with the Group's treasury objective and
policy. The Group has designated subsidiaries to carry out certain short-
term treasury activities including securities investment, money lending and
fund investment activities. The securities investment, money lending and
fund investment activities will only be conducted after having considered
the actual working capital needs of the Group. Both the treasury activities
and the investment policy are subject to review from time to time.

As the deposit rate offered by licensed bank in Hong Kong is minimal,
the Group will continue, in the ordinary course of business of the
Group, to use its surplus cash to conduct treasury activities if and when

opportunities arise.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The management and control of the Group's financial and capital
management are centralized at its headquarter in Hong Kong. The Group
adheres to the principle of prudent financial management to minimise
financial and operational risks. The Group mainly relies upon internally
generated funds and proceeds from fund raising activities to finance its
operations and expansion.

As of 31 March 2024, the Group's net current assets were approximately
HK$263.06 million including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$0.47 million (31 March 2023: net current assets of approximately
HK$215.46 million including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HKS$17.79 million).

The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total borrowings divided by
total share capital reserves was approximately 0.94% as at 31 March 2024
(2023: 1.07%).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
As of 31 March 2024, the Group had no capital commitments to acquire
property, plant and equipment (31 March 2023: HK$NIl).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had I3 full-time employees and O part-
time employee excluding Directors (2023: 13 full-time employees and
| part-time employee). The decrease in the number of employees was
attributed to the marketing strategy to focus on distributor sales. The
Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, working
experience and prevailing market standards. Employee benefits include
medical insurance coverage, mandatory provident fund for Hong Kong
employees, state-managed retirement benefits scheme for PRC employees

and share option scheme.

To provide incentive or rewards to staff, the Company adopted a
share option scheme, particulars of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “"Audit Committee”) comprises
of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Yang Xilin
(Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang Zhenyu.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2024 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

APPRECIATION

Taking this opportunity, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express
my appreciation to our shareholders for their continuous support and
the Company’s management and employees for their dedication and hard
work.

On behalf of the Board
King International Investment Limited

Wang Mengyao
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Mengyao ("Mr. Wang”), aged 27, is the chairman and the
executive director of the Company. He was the vice president of
Jiangsu Jinyan Fund Management Co., Ltd.* from January 2020 to March
2022. Mr. Wang has acted as and is currently the general manager of
Jiangsu Zhuoding Medical Technology Co., Ltd* since April 2022, and is
responsible for all operations and management matters of such company.
He is currently pursuing a business administration degree at Myongji
University in South Korea. Mr. Wang is experienced in business operations
and management, has in-depth knowledge about finance and medical
technology industries who will be able to provide unique insights regarding
business operations and management to the Board.

Mr. Liu Mingging (“Mr. Liu"), aged 46, is the co-chairman, the chief
executive directors and the executive director of the Company. He was
appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company on 9 August
2023, and an executive Director of the Company on 22 August 2023.
Mr. Liu obtained a Master degree in Economics from Tongji University
in the People's Republic of China in 2005. Mr. Liu has been serving as an
executive director of Kiu Hung International Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 00381) since 27 March 2020.
Mr. Liu has over |5 years of experience in financial and investment related
business and considerable experience in securities and futures, corporate
finance, derivative products and other various financial services.

30

BEE

BITES
FTEEEE(EERED 275 BAARD
AFEFERATEEZ -RERZT_FF
—BE T - _F-AEAIKcEE
CEBERARBEH - ETAEB-F
TCEMARESEAIGEREBER
FERAARBLE AEZAAZHE
EEBTIE - REMERBEBRNAE
REIHEREM - TRAENGEESE
ERTEREEELR HRERRE
BREMITEBERAATR HARNEES
RECXELZEEFANBRELE -

ZAMELETHERE]D 4655 BAR
AMEER TEXTEERHTE
E-BRR-_E-_=FN\ANBEZEA
ARRATHBEH YHR_E-=ZFN\A
“t-BEZTAELARRANTEE - 3
TER_ZSERFHRRFPEAREME
RAEABRESELTSA - Zeta -
T_EF-A-ttHBREAHBRIME
MARBHEEEERER QRN R
Wo00BNMMITES - IR ERN & B
RREHNBES FAEERISFLR -
THRELFRBE CERE TEER
LEMZESBRE A ARELEELR -



Q

\

FIEBREARAA
2024 £ FERS

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lu Xing Wu (“Mr. Lu"), aged 63, is the executive director of the
Company, obtained a bachelor degree in Chinese from Yangzhou
University in the PRC. Mr. Lu currently is the president of Hainan Xingyun
Zhiguang Food Technology Limited (BB Z B KR MBI EBRA
), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and is responsible for
the marketing of the brand of “Diwangchi” (7 E ) liquor. He currently
is the Chairman of Lu Xingwu Liquor Hall Brand Management Co., Ltd.
(ERRBEEDEEEBRAA), dean of Lu Xingwu Practitioner
Business School (B B BE &2 Ft), executive vice president and
secretary-general of the Liquor Committee of the Chinese Poetry and
Liquor Culture Association (FEIFFB XL HEBEEEZE), and senior
researcher of Yunjiu China Liquor Brand Research Institute ()8 # B
BEREMAEL). Mr Lu is a legendary wine merchant in the Chinese
wine industry and a master of practical marketing of Chinese liquor. He
has devoted himself to the practice and research of liquor marketing for
more than 20 years and completed the creation and application of the
theories of “360° Liquor Marketing” and “Dealer Profit Model Innovation”.
A large number of channel practical cases have been summarized. These
distinctive, practical and replicable cases are very popular among the

majority of wine dealers.

Mr. Lu is a distinguished professor at several universities and wine
companies, one of the first batch of Sichuan Wine Think Tank experts
specially hired by the Sichuan Provincial Government, and the marketing

consultant of several provincial wine associations.

Mr. Lu has served several well-known wine companies and wine
merchants. He summarized and compiled his more than 20 years of
practical market experience and published the first practical guide
for Chinese alcohol dealers — “Wine is Sold Like This!" (i + A E
& &% B W !) received unanimous praise from the wine industry and
created the myth of wine marketing book sales. His philosophy of selling
wine everywhere influenced the entire wine industry. Mr. Lu has won
“Outstanding Contribution Award for Chinese Wine Merchants 7 Bl ji 7
BEH BB HE" issued by the China Wine Industry Association (F B3)H %
#% &), "Outstanding Businessman in the Pengbai Ten Years Wine Industry
FRETEBERBEER", "Top Ten Operators of Chinese Festive
Products PEIEEEm T KEEH", “"China's Thousand Businessmen
Empowering Business Leaders # B T 75 B, 8% B 2 SR 411" and other titles.
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Mr. Gu Jianguo ("Mr. Gu"), aged 43, is the executive director of the
Company. He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
the Company on 22 August 2023 and was re-designated as the executive
director of the Company on 19 March 2024. He has over 20 years of
experience in project and administrative management and has extensive
expertise in operation and production of glass and materials related
products. Mr. Gu was the executive Director of Sunlight Technology
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1950) from 10 December 2021 to 3 March 2023. From 2003 to 2012,
Mr. Gu was an executive deputy general manager of Nanjing Yaopi
Network Technology Co., Limited*** (formerly known as Nanjing Yaopi
Glass Co., Limited***). Since 2014, Mr. Gu has worked as a general
manager at Hongze Hetai Investment Co., Limited*** Mr. Gu completed a
senior management program from the Business School of Nanjing Normal
University.

Mr. Man Wai Lun (“Mr. Man"), aged 5I, is an executive director of the
Company. He obtained his diploma in Business Management from the
School of Continuing Education, Hong Kong Baptist University in April
2003 and obtained a bachelor degree of accountancy from the University
of South Australia in March 2007. Mr. Man was appointed as an executive
Director and a member of the Nomination Committee in January 2019.
Mr. Man has over |6 years of experience in accounting.

Currently, Mr. Man is an executive director of Century Group International
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 2113). He was previously an independent
non-executive director of Elegance Optical International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 907) until 9 February 2024, an independent non-executive
director of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited (Stock code:
8147) until 29 May 2024 and an independent non-executive director of
Momentum Financial Holdings Limited (Stock code: [152) until 30 April
2024. He was an executive director of China Clean Energy Technology
Group Limited (Stock Code: 2379) until 3 October 2022, an independent
non-executive director of China Trustful Group Limited (Stock code: 8265,
delisted on 12 November 2021) until 9 November 2020 and an executive
director of CT Environmental Group Limited (Stock code: 1363, delisted
on 10 September 2021) until 19 April 2021.
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Mr. Pang Zhen ("Mr. Pang”), aged 48, joined the Company in 6 December
2021 and is an executive director of the Company. He graduated from the
real estate operation and management major of the Department of Civil
Engineering of Anshan Iron and Steel College in July 1998. Mr. Pang has
over 20 years work experience in the real estate industry in PRC, mainly
engaged in the development, sales and leasing activities of proper ties in
PRC since graduation from college in 1998.

Ms. Yan Ming (“Ms. Yan"), aged 43, has over 2| vyears in general
management. She is the executive director of the Company. She was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company
on 23 August 2023 and was re-designated as the executive director of
the Company on 19 March 2024. Ms. Yan has worked as the general
manager of Mianyang Heli Medical Health Management Co. Limited* since
November 2005. Ms. Yan obtained a bachelors’ degree in civil engineering
from the Southwest University of Science and Technology*.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Yang Xilin (“Ms. Yang"), aged 37, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, and the chairman of the Audit
Committee of the Company ("Audit Committee”) and a member of
each of the Nomination Committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) with effect from 23 August 2023. She has been appointed
as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Company
("Remuneration Committee”) with effect from 9 March 2024.
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Ms. Yang has over |0 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. Ms. Yang has worked as the Chief Financial Officer of
Hong Kong Petrochemical Co. Limited since July 2023. From July 2022 to
July 2023, Ms. Yang was the Chief Investment Officer of GDH Property
Management Limited. From May 2021 to December 2021, Ms. Yang was
a capital market director of Atlas (China) Limited. From January 2018 to
May 2021, Ms. Yang worked as an investment manager of Times China
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1233). From December 2015 to January 2018, Ms. Yang worked as a senior
project officer of Shenzhen Qianhai PricewaterhouseCoopers Business
Consulting Services Co. Limited. From October 2012 to October 2015,
Ms. Yang worked as an audit associate of PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong
Tian CPAs Limited Company (Shenzhen). Ms. Yang is a member of the
Institute of the Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Ms. Yang
obtained a Bachelors’ Degree in Business Administration in Accounting
from the University of Macao, and a Master's Degree in Professional
Accounting and Corporate Governance from the City University of Hong

Kong.

Mr. Lou Tao (“Mr. Lou”), aged 57, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 18 December 2023. He obtained
a Bachelor's Degree in international finance from Capital University of
Economics and Business in 1991. He worked at China Ocean Shipping
Company as a financial officer from 1991 to 2000. Mr. Lou has been
the General manager of the Electronics Division of Tibet Huajun

Advertisement Co., Ltd* (T ZEE E S B R 22 7)) since 2001.
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Mr. Zheng Yu ("Mr. Zheng"), aged 45 has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 19 March 2024. He
obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Nanjing University in June 2004
and has over 20 years of experience in the legal profession. Mr. Zheng
was an independent non-executive Director of Diwang Industrial Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1950)
from 25 January 2022 to 24 January 2024. He obtained the PRC Legal
Professional Qualification Certificate in September 2002 and has been
a practising lawyer since 2003, currently holding the position of senior
partner at Jiangsu Phaedo Law Firm. Mr. Zheng is also an arbitrator on
the panel of the Nanjing Arbitration Commission of the JiangSu (Nanjing)
International Arbitration Centre, an arbitrator on the panel of Taizhou
Arbitration Commission and an arbitrator on the panel of Suining
Arbitration Commission.

Mr. Wang Zhengyu ("Mr. Wang") aged 24, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 19 March 2024. He
is currently pursuing a master’s degree in finance at Queensland University
of Technology and obtained a bachelor's degree in accounting from
Queensland University of Technology in 2021.
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The Board submits their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in healthcare products and services business, money lending
business and sales of liquor business. Details of the principal activities and
other particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Board considers sales of liquor business is a new and growing field
and intends to strengthen the sales of liquor business segment. Details
of the future development of the Group's business are set out in the
paragraph headed "Prospects” under the section headed “Management

Discussion and Analysis”.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$223.68 million, gross profit of approximately HK$37.79
million, and profit before tax of approximately HK$23.87 million.

The results of the Group for the year ended 3| March 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income on page 95 to 96.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 3| March 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 99 and note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out in section headed "“Five Year
Financial Summary” on page 184.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the vyear ended 3| March 2024 are set out in note |6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the Company’s share capital and share options are set out in
notes 28 and 3! respectively to the consolidated financial statements.
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THE COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW
ON THE QUALIFIED OPINION OF THE INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

The basis for qualified opinion and the Company and the audit
committee’s view are set out on pages 13 to 22 of this report.

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

In order to streamline the organization structure of the Relevant Business
(as defined below), the group had undergone a re-organization during
the year ended 3| March 202| pursuant to which It REMBFER KA
PR 2 R] (Beijing Life Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.) (“Beijing Lianhe"),
a 100% owned subsidiary of the Group, has entered into the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option Agreement,
the Power of Attorney and the Share Pledge Agreement on 29 March
2021, which supersede the previous agreements, (together, the “VIE
Agreements” and each a "VIE Agreement”) by and among Beijing Lianhe,
EMUER)BERKARAA (Life Healthcare (Beijing) Co., Ltd.)
(“Life Healthcare”) and the two registered shareholders (namely, Mr. Du
PeilLin and Mr. Ma Lei, both are not connected persons (as defined under
the Listing Rules) of the Company) of Life Healthcare (the “Registered
Shareholders”) who hold all the equity capital of Life Healthcare.

Life Healthcare was established on 22 February 2016 and its principal
activities are provision of genetic testing and health data analysis services
(the “Relevant Business™). Pursuant to the Special Administrative
Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access (2021) (9N
KREEANFRE R E KB EE E)(Q2021F MR))) issued by National
Development and Reform Commission and Ministry of Commerce of PRC
on 27 December 2021 and would be effected on | January 2022, the
“development and application of human stem cells and genetic diagnosis
therapy technology” is listed as an item forbidden for foreign investment.
By entering into the VIE Agreements, the Group obtained effective
control over Life Healthcare and the right to receive substantially all of
Life Healthcare's economic benefits (the “Contractual Arrangements").
Details of each of the VIE Agreements are set out below.
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Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement entered into by
Beijing Lianhe and Life Healthcare, Beijing Lianhe shall, within the validity
period of such agreement, provide Life Healthcare and its designated
subsidiaries with comprehensive business support, technical and consulting
services and Life Healthcare shall pay a monthly consulting and service
fee, which shall be equal to the amount of Life Healthcare's monthly total
income deducting the expenses and costs directly incurred thereby. In
addition, Life Healthcare agreed that, without the prior written approval
by Beijing Lianhe, it shall not enter into any transaction which may
materially affect its assets, obligations, rights, or business operations, so
as to ensure the performance of business agreements between both
parties and the payment of each price payable. For those matters related
to business operation and asset disposal, Life Healthcare shall act in
accordance with the instructions and requests by Beijing Lianhe.

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement entered into by and among
Beijing Lianhe, Life Healthcare and the Registered Shareholders, the
Registered Shareholders granted an irrevocable option to Beijing Lianhe
and/or other entity or individual as designated by it to acquire all or
any of their equity interests in Life Healthcare, in one or more steps
as determined by Beijing Lianhe in its absolute and sole discretion, to
the extent as permissible under the PRC laws. The agreement shall be
terminated when all equity interests in Life Healthcare have been lawfully
transferred to Beijing Lianhe and/or other entity or individual designated
by Beijing Lianhe. At the time of exercising the option, the transfer price
for the acquisition (the “Transfer Price”) payable by Beijing Lianhe and/or
its designated entity or individual shall be RMBI. If there is any mandatory
requirement with respect to the Transfer Price under PRC laws then
effective, the Transfer Price shall be the minimum price as permitted
under PRC laws. The Registered Shareholders have undertaken and
agreed that, since they have already been reimbursed by Beijing Lianhe and
its affiliated companies, they will refund all Transfer Price to Beijing Lianhe
and/or its designated entity or individual within 10 business days after
they receive the Transfer Price. Further, in the event that Life Healthcare
is in liquidation or bankruptcy, the Registered Shareholders shall ensure
that the residual assets of Life Healthcare (the assets after the payments
for liquidation costs, wages, social insurance premiums and statutory
compensations, taxes owed and debts payable) shall be transferred to
Beijing Lianhe and/or its designated entity or individual at minimum price
as permitted under PRC laws. The asset transfer is nonreciprocal. The
Registered Shareholders have undertaken to ensure that such transfer will
not create any obligation of Beijing Lianhe to the Registered Shareholders
and their creditors or Life Healthcare and its creditors.
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It is further agreed that the Registered Shareholders and Life Healthcare
shall act in accordance with the request of Beijing Lianhe with regard
to the sale, transfer, pledge or disposal through other means of Life
Healthcare's assets, businesses or revenue. Without consent from Beijing
Lianhe, Life Healthcare cannot sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of any
of its assets, business or revenue, nor can it enter into any significant
contracts (defined as those with contract sum of exceeding RMB100,000).
Finally, the Registered Shareholders agreed that they shall appoint persons
designated by Beijing Lianhe as board directors, legal representative and
key management personnel of Life Healthcare.

Under the Power of Attorney entered into by Beijing Lianhe and the
Registered Shareholders, the directors and their successors of Beijing
Lianhe (including a liquidator replacing the directors) shall be authorised to
be the sole proxy and authorised person of the Registered Shareholders
to exercise all shareholder’s rights over Life Healthcare with respect
to all the relevant matters, including but not limited to: 1) to attend
shareholder’s meetings of Life Healthcare; 2) to exercise all shareholder’s
rights and voting rights of the Registered Shareholders as entitled by
the articles of association of Life Healthcare and PRC laws, including
without limitation the transfer, pledge and disposal of all or part of the
equity interest in Life Healthcare; and 3) to appoint and designate the
legal representative (the chairman of the board of directors), directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer and other senior managers of Life
Healthcare.

Under the Share Pledge Agreement entered into by Beijing Lianhe and
the Registered Shareholders, the Registered Shareholders pledged all
their equity interests in Beijing Lianhe to guarantee the performance of (i)
the payment for consulting and service fee of Life Healthcare under the
Exclusive Cooperation Agreement; (ii) the obligations of the Registered
Shareholders under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement; and (iii) the
obligations under the Power of Attorney. Beijing Lianhe shall be entitled to
dispose of the pledged equity where Life Healthcare fails to fully pay for
the consulting and service fee payable under the Exclusive Cooperation
Agreement or violates the obligations under the Exclusive Cooperation
Agreement, Exclusive Call Option Agreement and Power of Attorney. The
equity interests in Life Healthcare shall not be transferred without Beijing
Lianhe's written consent.

Save as disclosed above, there has not been any material change in the
Contractual Arrangements during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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The Group has obtained a legal opinion from a PRC law firm, Jingtian &
Gongcheng on the VIE Agreements according to the Company Law of the
PRC (the "Company Law"), the Contract Law of the PRC (the "Contract
Law”) and other PRC laws, administrative regulations, administrative
rules. Jingtian & Gongcheng has provided its legal opinion that the signing
each of the VIE Agreements is not illegal and each VIE agreement and its
confirmation letter is not in breach of or in default under any PRC laws,
and that each of the VIE Agreements is legally valid and enforceable.
Jingtian & Gongcheng has indicated that it cannot be precluded that the
relevant foreign investment and health authorities’ understanding of the

relevant laws and regulations may different from its above legal opinions.

Life Healthcare has been accounted a 100% owned subsidiary of the
Group for in the condensed consolidated financial statements of the
Group, on the basis that the Group has effective control over Life
Healthcare and the right to receive substantially all of Life Healthcare's
economic benefits. The Board has determined that due to each of the
VIE Agreements, which Jingtian & Gongcheng has advised are legally valid
and enforceable, Beijing Lianhe has existing rights and ability to direct
the relevant activities of Life Healthcare, ie the activities that significantly
affect Life Healthcare's returns. Further, Beijing Lianhe has exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with Life Healthcare as
under the Exclusive Cooperation Agreement entered into between Beijing
Lianhe and Life Healthcare, Life Healthcare shall pay a monthly consulting
and service fee equal to the amount of Life Healthcare's monthly total
income after deducting the expenses and costs directly incurred thereby.
The control activities carried out by Beijing Lianhe, and how well it
controls and manages the activities and operations of Life Healthcare, will
directly affect the amount of its returns.

The Board is of the view that healthcare services especially the genetic
testing and health data analysis services market in PRC is expected a new
but growing field. Healthcare products and services segment recorded
revenue and assets of approximately HK$!13.78 million and HK$36.06
million respectively in the year ended 3| March 2024 and has become one
of the most important business segment of the Group.
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Major risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements are summarized
as follows: although Jingtian & Gongcheng had expressed the view that the
entering of each of the Contractual Arrangements is not in contravention
of the relevant PRC laws and regulations, uncertainties however do
exist regarding the interpretation and application of the PRC laws and
regulations. If the PRC government determines that the Contractual
Arrangements do not comply with the applicable laws and regulations of
the PRC or issues further guidelines that impose stricter foreign ownership
requirements in the Relevant Business, the Group's Relevant Business
may be affected. If that happens, the Company will seek other forms
of contractual arrangements if then available to carry out the Relevant
Business.

The Company has implemented the following internal control measures
to safeguard its assets held through the Contractual Arrangements: (i) the
officers of the Company in charge of Life Healthcare will regularly review
the relevant parties’ compliance with the Contractual Arrangements and
other related matters, monitor the development of the Relevant Business
and will report regularly to the Board; (ii) professional parties will be
engaged to assist the Board to handle any specific issues arising from the
Contractual Arrangements; (i) the Company has controlled the board
of directors of Beijing Lianhe, Life Healthcare and its subsidiaries; (iv)
the auditors of the Company will be engaged to provide for the annual
confirmations in compliance with Paragraph 16(c) of the Guidance Letter;
and (v) Life Healthcare will prepare and provide monthly management

accounts and key operating data to the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, none of the VIE Agreements
mentioned above has been unwound as none of the restrictions that led
to the adoption of structured contracts has been removed.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company has identified principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group faces as a business. These include economic risks, operational risks,
regulatory risks, and financial risks. The Group's business, future results
of operations and prospects could be materially and adversely affected by
those risks and uncertainties.
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The following highlights the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group
and it is not meant to be exhaustive. There may be other risks and
uncertainties which are not known to the Group or which may not be
material now but turn out to be material in the future.

Economic Risks

— A severe or prolonged downturn of the global or PRC economy.

— Negative effect on our operational, financing or investing activities
due to fluctuations in inflation, fluctuations in interest rates and
other measures relating to financial policies in PRC.

Increase in interest rates may have an adverse effect on the money
lending business of the Group as it will increase the cost of funding of
the borrowers and lower the profit margin of their businesses which in
turn will adversely affect their repayment ability of the loans advanced by
the Group. The situation may be worsened in case of a slowdown in the
economic growth of the global or PRC economy due to, for example, the
COVID-19 epidemic. The Group will continue to review its loan portfolio
and trade and other receivables on a regular basis in order to take
appropriate actions on a timely basis.

Operational Risks
—  Failure to compete in the competitive environment which the Group
operates in or to keep up with technological developments.

Healthcare services business has the characteristics of high technological
standard and rapid changes in the development. Failure to catch up
with the technological development may adversely affect the healthcare
services business of the Group. The Group will pay close attention to
relevant technology developments and respond to possible technological
changes in a timely manner.

—  Failure to maintain the quality of the products at high level.

The Group's principal business activity is the manufacturing and sales of
Chinese liquor, whose principal risks include the quality of the products
and the security during production. The Group has taken comprehensive
measures to ensure that both quality and security will meet the industry
standards.
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—  Failure to recruit and retain sufficient qualified staff with relevant
experience and expertise in healthcare services business and sales of

liquor business.

Due to the fierce competition of talents in the healthcare industry and
sales of liquor industry, the Group's operation may be affected adversely
if the Group has an insufficient talent pool. A shortage of professional
and sales will affect the Group's operation. Therefore, if the Group fails
to retain suitable talents, the turnover rate being above the acceptable
level may affect the long-term development of the Group. In view of the
above, the Group will properly reduce the corresponding risks by stepping
up its effort in recruitment and establishing the Group’s reputation as
an employer in the human resources market under the premise of taking

certain risks.

Regulatory Risks
—  Failure to adhere to laws, regulations and rules, or to obtain or

maintain all applicable permits and approvals.

— Adverse effects arising from change in laws and regulations affecting

our businesses.

The Group needs to obtain the relevant licence(s) in order to carry
out its healthcare services business in PRC. If the Group fails to renew
the relevant licence(s) or comply with the rules and regulations of the
governing authorities, the operations of its healthcare service business
will be adversely affected. In order to avoid this from happening, the
Group pays close attention to changes in rules and regulations relating to

licencing and changes in policy of the governing authorities.

— Adverse effects arising from change in laws and regulations affecting
the legality and enforceability of each of the VIE agreements.
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PRC laws haven't expressly stipulated the legality of the VIE agreement
between foreign-invested companies and Chinese-funded companies
which carry out items forbidden for foreign investment with China. The
PRC laws still leave uncertainty as to whether foreign investors' controlling
PRC onshore variable interest entities via contractual arrangements
will be recognized as “foreign investment” and thus be subject to the
restrictions/prohibitions on foreign investments. So we cannot assure
you that each of the VIE agreements between Beijing Lianhe and Life
Healthcare can be continuously deemed as legal and enforceable by the
governing authorities in the future. If the VIE agreements are deemed as
illegal, the Group will fail to exercise effective control over Life Healthcare
and receive substantially all of the economic benefits of Life Healthcare.
Besides, the operation of its genetic testing service within China will be
adversely affected.

Financial Risks
—  Details of financial risks are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ENVIRONMENT AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The Group is committed to minimising the impact on the environment
from its business activities. As far as the Board is aware, the Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the Group in all material respects.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the accomplishment of its employees by providing
comprehensive benefit package, career development opportunities and
training appropriate to individual needs. The Group provides a healthy and
safe workplace for all employees. There had not been any cases of strikes
or reports of fatality due to workplace accidents during the year under

review.

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to meet our
customers' needs in an effective and efficient manner.

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers through
various means and channels, to understand customer trends and needs,
and regularly analyses on customer feedbacks. The Group also conducts
comprehensive quality assurance checks to ensure that only quality
products and services are offered to customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2024.

SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 September
2012 (“Share Option Scheme 2012") expired on |7 September 2022. At
31 March 2023, the number of shares in respect of which options had been
granted and remained outstanding under the Share Option Scheme 2012
was 86,040,000, representing 8% of the shares of the Company in issue
at that date. The options were granted to consultants of the Company
with details set out below. Please also refer to note 31 of the consolidated
financial statements and the paragraph headed “the Company and the
Audit Committee’s View on the Qualified Opinion of the Independent
Auditor’s Report” in the section headed “Management Discussion and

Analysis” of this report.
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Name or Category of date of this
Participants Date of Grant report  Exercise Period Exercise Price
“E-ME
ZA=+-HR
AXEEEH
MR EMN
SHEEXEZHER R A H BREZE THEHH THEE
(HK$) (HK$)
(&) (&)
(Note) (Note)
(B 3%) (B 3%)
Consultants
B
Dai Kai Fu*
CEIPS 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=1+EAE E-Z—t&+HA-+HAZE
“ZT-t+t4$+AZTHEA
Yang Wei Lan*
BEZ 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=1+EAE E-Z—t&+A-+HAZE
“ZT-t+t4$+AZTHEA
Chen Man Hong*
e 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=1+EAE E-Z—t&+HA-+HAZE
“E-t4¥+AZTHEA
Liang Xiao Li*
23\ 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=1+EAE E-Z—t&+HA-+HAZE
“ZT-t+t4$+AZTHEA
Song Hong Lin*
KRB 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=TEAE E-Z—t&+HA-+HAZE
“ZT-t+t4$+AZTHEA
Liang Zhi Hua*
REL 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=TEAE E-Z—t&+A-+HAZ

—ZZt+F+AZ+WA
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Number

of outstanding
share options
as at 3| March
2024 and the

Name or Category of date of this
Participants Date of Grant report  Exercise Period Exercise Price
—BCmF
ZA=t+-BkK
FHRERM
tef R AT € &9
SREMEZDER RiBH BRERE TEHE THE
(HK$) (HK$)
() B
(Note) (Note)
(Bt &) (B 3E)
Zong Xiao Feng*
N 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
~F-tFTA-1hH B-F—tFtA-+HEE
“RtFTAZTEA
Weng Sheng Hao*
SFEE 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
~F-tFTA-1hH B-F—tF+A-+HEE
“RtFTAZTEA
Sun Dao You*
HER 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—“F-tFTA-1hH B-F—tF+A-+HEE
“RtFTAZTEA
Total 86,040,000
@5t
Note: After adjustment for share consolidation of 5 shares of HK$0.0l each into | i SREREEIIEBTZROHERNAE
consolidated share of HK$0.05 each effective on 23 September 2020. HERAEEBIRSREBEOSETLZA
Bip  R-B-EBFAAT=RER-
*  For identification purposes only * EHRZF
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The Company adopted a new share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme 2022") at its annual general meeting held on |2 October 2022
which shall be valid for 10 years from the adoption date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme 2022 is to provide eligible
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in
the Company and to encourage eligible participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Any employees (whether full-time or part-time), directors (including
executive directors, non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors) of the Group, and any advisers (professional or
otherwise), consultants, distributors, suppliers, agents, customers,
partners, joint venture partners, promoters or service providers to
the Group (“Non-employee Persons”) who the Board considers, in its
sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group may join the Share Option Scheme 2022.

A maximum of 154,202,506 shares, representing 10% of the number of
issued shares of the Company as at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme 2022 and as at the date of this report, may be issued
upon exercise of any options granted or to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme 2022.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of any options granted under the Share Option Scheme 2022 and
any other share option schemes of the Company (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in any [2-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as of the date of grant.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme 2022 at any time after the date upon which the option is
deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years
from that date. The period during which an option may be exercised will
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that no option
may be exercised more than 10 vears after it has been granted.
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Upon acceptance of an option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 (or an
equivalent amount in RMB) to the Company by way of consideration for
the grant.

The subscription price in respect of any particular option granted under
the Share Option Scheme 2022 shall be such price as the Board in its
absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price will not be less
than the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the official closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

No options were granted, exercised, cancelled nor lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme 2022 during the year ended 31 March 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save for the share option scheme of the Company, no equity-linked
agreement that would or might result in the Company issuing shares,
or that requiring the Company to enter into an agreement that would
or might result in the Company issuing shares, was entered into by the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2024 or subsisted at the end of
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Mengyao (Chairman)

(appointed on 9 August 2023, re-designated as Co Chairman
on 28 December 2023 and re-designated as Chairman
on 19 January 2024)

Mr. Liu Mingging (Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 22 August 2023,
re-designated as Chairman on 18 December 2023 and
re-designated as Co Chairman on 28 December 2023)

Mr. Lu Xingwu (appointed on 28 December 2023)

Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
on 22 August 2023 and re-designated as Executive Director
on 19 March 2024)

Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Pang Zhen

Ms. Yan Ming (appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
on 23 August 2023 and re-designated as Executive Director
on 19 March 2024)

Mr. Yuan Limin (resigned on 23 August 2023)
Mr. Huang Zhi fang (resigned on 24 July 2023)

Mr. Long Jinbo (appointed on 18 December 2023 and resigned
on 19 March 2024)
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Yang Xilin (appointed on 23 August 2023)

Mr. Lou Tao (appointed on |8 December 2023)

Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on |9 March 2024)

Mr. Wang Zhenyu (appointed on |9 March 2024)

Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023)
Dr. Zhao, Shawn Xiaohong (resigned on 23 August 2023)

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”), Mr. Lu Xingwu, Mr. Gu Jianguo,
Mr. Lou Tao, Ms. Yan Ming, Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang Zhenyu shall hold
office until the forthcoming annual general meeting. In accordance with
Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Liu Mingging, Mr. Man
Wai Lun and Mr. Pang Zhen will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Mr. Liu Mingging, Mr. Lu Xingwu, Mr. Gu Jianguo, Mr. Lou Tao, Mr.
Man Wai Lun, Mr. Pang Zhen, Ms. Yan Ming, Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang
Zhenyu being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at that meeting.

Each of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a term of service of 2 to 3 years with the Company
and has not entered into a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from
the Group's business, that competes or competed or is or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any
time during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to and including the
date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2024 or at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors and chief executives of
the Company is interested in or has short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFQ")) which were
required under Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the following persons (other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests and short positions of 5%
or more of the issued share capital and underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each of the Company:

FTERRREMALRROKRER
kit EERKXR

R_ZE_MF=A=+—R BRERF
REESRAEROIEDBHEIFELZ
ERELMMmTE WTALT(LHE
ERARATIETRAB)RBARA
EETRARMABRN%IIN L2 #

ST 3K A .
mMEKE

REAFBREBESERLZEERZ
BR:

Number of Approximate

ordinary percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held shareholding

FEEER R RE B

RRESE /B8 56 ¥ E BAL
Wang Mengyao Beneficial owner

I2E ESBEBAA 444,504,080 24.02%
Wei Yan Beneficial owner

R EGBAA 380,052,611 20.54%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, no other person had
registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company which was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 3| March 2024, there were no connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions between the Group
and its connected persons (as defined under the Listing Rules) which
are subject to the reporting, announcement and the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules.

The related party transactions in relation to the compensation of key
management personnel as disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements are connected transactions exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
pursuant to Rule 14A.95 of the Listing Rules.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group provides a defined contribution retirement scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
to all Hong Kong staff. Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees' relevant income, up to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500
(effective from June 2014) per month. The employees of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the government of the PRC.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the percentage of the Group's revenue
attributable to its largest customer and five largest customers were 14%
and 45% respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the percentage of the Group's
purchases attributable to its largest supplier and five largest suppliers
were 49% and 97%, respectively.

At no time during the year ended 3| March 2024 did a Director, any
close associate of a Director or a shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) have any material interest in any of the Group's five

largest suppliers or customers.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
Save for the VIE Agreements, no contracts concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business

of the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 March 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director and officer shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may incur or sustain in the
execution of his duties or otherwise in relation thereto.

Such provision was in force during the year ended 31 March 2024. In
addition, the Company has also maintained Directors and officers liability
insurance during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this

report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument of the Directors shall be decided by the Board as
recommended by the Remuneration Committee having regard to a written
remuneration policy (which ensures a clear link of business strategy and a
close alignment with the Shareholders’ interest and current market best
practice). Remuneration should be paid with reference to the Board’s
corporate goals and objectives, the salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the executive and non-executive
Directors and applicability of performance based remuneration. The
Director's fees are paid in line with market practice. No individual should
determine his or her own remuneration.

56

EEAHN
REE-_Z-_NE=A=+—-ALEE"
BRTVIEBEIN  BET YR FEMTM

BRARAEGERIEIMEREDE
BRIIBREEZAH -

BEFRERKX

REABERAN SEZTRRAAER
DRERBETEBREXELBEMAE
RBEARX A RRAAEUART
ZBERGMTERAE -

FEBRXERBEEZE-_T_MF=A
=t—HIEFEER - I BEZE
“ME=RA=t-RLEEREELRH
SR KARANMEREENSRAE
REBREERRE

ErRARE
HRERAMUNIHAEHE AL ESR
BEERBREZAT  BEARAEAR
EPIRBRAERREEHR -

BYFHTES BUMBRAE

ARFICEERSBUFNTEEZRE L
MAAEBEREHCFRBLERE °
ARARR ERBUFNTEZHAR
BYAL -

¥ R
EE/HMemFMEREeR2REAF
MBERAEREEHREZHNAE
TEBRRZERIBTTEREER)
RUEEEEAMMESSET - Wafk
SEEZRHENCEARREN 7
FTAEBRAXANF S - HITRIEH
TESNRRRARBEREXRRAH
ANEFEM 2 EREMS - EFHEE R
A EmHEH  EEMIM - L EME
AT BETEEEMSE -



N

Employees’ remuneration was determined in accordance with individual's
responsibility, competence and skills, experience and performances as well
as market pay level. Remuneration package includes, as the case may be,
basic salaries, contribution to MPF Scheme, discretionary bonus relating
to financial performance of the Group and individual performance, share
options and other fringe benefits such as medical insurance. Details of the
emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals in the
Group are set out in note |3 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report from pages 58 to 83.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under
the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
(“ZHONGHUI"). A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint ZHONGHUI as
auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board
King International Investment Limited

Wang Mengyao
Chairman and Executive Director

28 June 2024
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OVERVIEW

The Company has formulated and maintained a high standard of corporate
governance practices in order to safeguard the interest of shareholders,
employees and other stakeholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

This corporate governance report helps the Shareholders to understand
and evaluate the corporate governance practices of the Company.
Appendix Cl to the Listing Rules sets out the principles of good
corporate governance. The Company has adopted the principles and the
code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code”)
as set out in Part 2 of Appendix Cl to the Listing Rules as its own code
of corporate governance. The Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Board will continue to review and recommend such steps as
appropriate in a timely manner in order to comply with the requirements
of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as the standard for securities transactions by Directors.
The Company has made specific enquiries of all the Directors and all the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions for the year ended 31 March 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises eleven members, being seven executive
Directors and four independent non-executive Directors. None of the
members of the Board and the chief executive has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship)
with each other. The list of Directors is set out in the section headed
“Directors’ Report” and the details of the Directors including their
backgrounds and qualifications are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report. The term of service of the Directors with the Company is mainly
2 to 3 years. The Directors have not entered into service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation but
is subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the Articles of
Association.
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Article 83(3) of the articles of association of the Company provides that
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of members after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Lu Xingwu, Mr. Gu
Jianguo, Mr. Lou Tao, Ms. Yan Ming, Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang Zhenyu
shall hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Article 84 of the articles of association of the Company provides that at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years, and that a retiring Director shall
be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Liu Mingging, Mr. Man Wai Lun
and Mr. Pang Zhen will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Mr. Liu Mingging, Mr. Lu Xingwu, Mr. Gu Jianguo, Mr. Lou Tao, Mr. Man
Wai Lun, Mr. Pang Zhen, Ms. Yan Ming, Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang
Zhenyu, will offer themselves for re-election pursuant to the articles
of association of the Company. The Nomination Committee has also
recommended to the Board that the above-mentioned Directors are
eligible for re-election, upon evaluating the respective Director against the
selection criteria mentioned above and the independence of Mr. Luo Tao,
Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang Zhenyu.

The Board assumes responsibility for the leadership and control of the
Company and its members are collectively responsible for promoting the
business of the Company by formulating the Group’s overall strategies
and policies, approving the business plans, evaluating the performance
of the Group in pursuit of the Group's overall strategies and overseeing
the management of the Group. The Board has established three
committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. During the vear, the Board reviewed
and approved the annual results of the Group for the year ended 3|
March 2023 and interim results of the Group for six months ended 30
September 2023. The management of the Group is responsible for the
day-to-day operations of the Group, and implementing the business
strategies and plans formulated and approved by the Board.
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All Directors have acted in good faith for the best interests of the
Company and the stakeholders of the Company. Other than the statutory
duties imposed on each of them, all of the Directors have exercised
due care in monitoring the corporate matters of the Company and have
provided grave concern, sufficient time and attention to all the significant
issues and affairs of the Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation to the Company concerning his independence pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent. The
independent non-executive Directors had been expressly identified as
such in all corporate communications of the Company that disclose the

names of Directors.

The independent non-executive directors represent at least one-
third of the members of the Board. The presence and the views of the
independent non-executive directors provide a strong independent
element on the Board. Major matters are discussed at the Board room
and decided by Directors in Board meetings with the participation of the
independent non-executive directors.

Board Meetings
The number of Board meetings and general meetings attended by each
Director during the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:
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Number of Board

meetings attended
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Number of general

meetings attended

HEESS HERRAE
UHES EERY KRB
Mr. Wang Mengyao (Chairman) T8ERE (fﬁ ) 21123 3/3
(appointed on 9 August 2023, (RZZZ_=FNANBEZE
re-designated as Co Chairman RZZEZ=F+-A-T/N\H
on 28 December 2023 and re-designated HEIRBEEIRIN_T_M%F
as Chairman on 19 January 2024) —ATHhBHERTR)
Mr. Liu Mingging ARG E(HETERTHAER) 21721 33
(Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (RZZ-=/\A=TZH
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer BZERTHAR
on 22 August 2023, re-designated RZZEZ=F+-RA+/\H
as Chairman on 18 December 2023 and HERFRIR-_Z-=%
re-designated as Co Chairman on TZAZTN\RETABMEERE)
28 December 2023)
Mr. Lu Xingwu EERREE(R-FT_=F 5/5 I/1
(appointed on 28 December 2023) TZAZTN\REZHE)
Mr. Gu Jianguo ERERE(M-Z==4F/N\A 21121 33
(appointed as Independent Non-Executive :JF_ H?%§E7%ﬁjﬁﬁﬂh =
Director on 22 August 2023 and re- —E-ME=R+ A
designated as Executive Director on i T_jci%ﬁl 5%)
19 March 2024)
Mr. Man Wai Lun XEBRLE 24126 33
Mr. Pang Zhen BRERE 25/25 23
Ms. Yan Ming (appointed as Independent ZRLT(RZF==FN\A 2020 33
Non-Executive Director on 23 August 2023 CTCHEZERBUFHITES
and re-designated as Executive Director on TR-ZZ-ME=ATHA
19 March 2024) | Ei%%ﬂhﬁ%)
Mr. Yuan Limin (resigned on 23 August 2023)  RURE£(R-FE-=F 5/6 0/0
/\ H T=H %x f£)
Mr. Huang Zhi fang (resigned on 24 July 2023) FEERZT_=%F 12 0/0
t A-+mA ﬁ?f )
Mr. Long Jinbo (appointed on 18 December EeRAE(RZZZ=F1T2A 6/7 I/l
2023 and resigned on 19 March 2024) TNBEZHETR-_T-_ME
ZAthAE{E)
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Number of Board ~ Number of general
Independent Non-executive Directors meetings attended ~ meetings attended
HEESS HERRAE
BUFHTES EERY KRB
Ms. Yang Xilin BRRRL(R-T_=F 20/20 33
(appointed on 23 August 2023) NAZT=REZHA)
Mr. Lou Tao BELE(R-_Z-=% 717 0/l
(appointed on 18 December 2023) TZATNBREZ{E)
Mr. Zheng Yu BFr4E(R-_Z-MmF 0/0 0/0
(appointed on 19 March 2024) ZRthBEZH)
Mr. Wang Zhenyu IRFEER-_B-_NF 0/0 0/0
(appointed on 19 March 2024) ZRThBEZH)
Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang IEREL(R-Z_=F 5/6 0/0
(resigned on 23 August 2023) NAZ+=HEE)
Dr. Zhao, Shawn Xiaohong HERABT(R-Z-=% 5/6 0/0
(resigned on 23 August 2023) NAZ+=HEE)

The Board has reviewed the contribution required from each Director EE2ERIZEERETHEHALNT
to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company and is satisfied that ZBEFEFELNER YERBES
each Director has been spending sufficient time in performing hislher ERBEZZT-_ME=A=+—HItHF
responsibilities during the year ended 31 March 2024. ERARAER BITHBE
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Save for regular Board meetings held during the year ended 3| March
2024, meetings of the Directors were held to discuss and transact other
special businesses. Proper notice of meetings was sent to the Directors.
The Board members are provided with appropriate and sufficient
information in a timely manner to keep abreast of the Group's latest
developments. The Directors have access to the advice and services of
the company secretary. All businesses transacted at the Board meetings
are properly documented and recorded in minutes with draft and final
versions being circulated to the Directors for their comment and records
respectively, within reasonable time after the meetings are held. Originals
of such minutes, being kept by the company secretary, are open for
inspection upon reasonable notice by any Director.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting
rather than a written resolution. The relevant Director will abstain from
voting on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or any of his/
her associates has a material interest and he/she shall not be counted in
the quorum present at such Board meeting. Independent non-executive
Directors who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in

the transaction will be present at that Board meeting.
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Terms of Reference of the Board

In respect of the corporate governance functions, the Board formulated
their terms of reference and performed the following corporate
governance duties during the year ended 31 March 2024:

*  To develop and review the Company's policies and practices on

corporate governance;

*  To review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

*  To review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

*  To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to directors and employees; and

*  To review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Wang Mengyao is the chairman of the Company and Mr. Liu Mingging
is the co-chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. Please
refer to the paragraph headed "“Corporate Governance Practices” in this
section.
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Delegation to the Management RETEHRE

The management is led by the chairman and the chief executive officer ERENHIFRITHAREE TR
who have been delegated to carry out the day-to-day management and  HEETASEWNB AR ZATERER
operation of the subsidiaries of Group, formulate business policies and ZE HEXBER IRTIEXRKS
make decision on key business issues. The general manager shall have all ~BEH AT - BLBEEEEES 21—

powers and authorities of the Board except the following major matters: DENREE HETHIEEFEBKRIM:
«  determining the Group’s objectives and strategies; - EEAEBEZEERER:
. approving annual and interim results and financial reporting; J HEFERTHEEARMN K&
H .
=

» declaring or recommending payment of dividends or other ¢ ERZIEBZEKNBREXEMDIK:
distributions;

+  approving major changes that require notification by announcement ¢ HAEBRE ETHRAUBUAREER
under the Listing Rules; EHBACERED:

«  approving publication of the announcement for notifiable « HAEFBELHHRAUBTZETA

transactions under the Listing Rules; MRPZNE:
«  approving non-exempt connected transactions; . BEFHREBERS

approving major capital restructuring and issue of new securities of +  BAERABZFEEAREH R

the Company; and BHEET R
. material transactions. . BARS o

65



i o

King International Investment Limited

Annual Report 2024

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRE

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive and formal
induction to ensure that he/she has an appropriate understanding of (i)
the business and operations of the Group; (ii) his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements;
(iii) the corporate governance code of the Company; and (iv) the Model
Code. The Directors may seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses in order to assist
them to perform their duties to the Company.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional development
for Directors will be arranged at the expenses of the Company whenever
necessary. The Directors are committed to complying with code provision
C.14 of the CG Code on Directors' training. All Directors have been
updated on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. The Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for the
year ended 31 March 2024 to the Company. Our Directors have attended
training sessions conducted by our legal advisers as to Hong Kong laws
on the ongoing obligations and duties of a director of a company whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
potential legal actions against its Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and structure
for all remuneration of Directors and members of the senior management
of the Company and to determine the specific remuneration packages of
all executive Directors and members of the senior management of the
Company. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have
been posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
respectively.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive Director. The Remuneration Committee comprised of one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors for the
year ended 3| March 2024 as at the date of this report.

The Remuneration Committee held 7 meetings during the year ended
31 March 2024. Details of the attendance of the committee members are
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as follows: KEZEREHFBOT:
Committee Members Attendance ZEEWE %
Ms. Yang Xilin (Chairman) 4/4 BEMZL(EE)(R 4/4
(appointed on 23 August 2023 and re-designated “E-=F#NA=+=H
as Chairman on |9 March 2024) BEZEIR_ZT_NF
ZRTABRARRER)
Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on 19 March 2024) 0/0 BFEE(R_T_MF 0/0
=AtNBEZHE)
Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023) 5/5 BEREAE(RZZ-=F 5/5
NE-+-HEZH)
Ms. Yan Ming (appointed on 23 August 2023 and 4/4 AT (R_T_=F 4/4
resigned on 19 March 2024) NAZ+=REZ#E
WRZEZMF
ZRTABEE)
Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023) 212 FTERBET(RZ-ZT_=F 212
NAZ+=ZB&T)
Dr. Zhao, Shawn Xiaohong (resigned on 23 August 2023) 212 HERBET(RZTZ=F 212

NAZ+=R#E{)
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The major work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 3| March 2024 included, amongst other things, the following:

g reviewing the remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management and making recommendation to the Board;

. making recommendations on the remuneration packages of the non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors); and

. reviewing and determining the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and members of the senior management.

REMUNERATION POLICY OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of Directors is determined by the Remuneration
Committee having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends. The Company also adopted a share option scheme on
|2 October 2022 for the primary propose of providing incentives to any
Directors and employees of the Group and any advisors, consultants,
distributors, suppliers, agents, customers, partners, joint venture partners,
promoters or service providers to the Group who the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or shall contribute to the Group.

The remuneration of the Directors by band for the year ended 31 March
2024 is set out below:

FWZeenBz_E_NF
“t+-HUEFERBRIZEEI(EH
HEUATEE:

. RHEIRBAEEEFMEE
PHEFRIRHRE

C REHGEE REBUENIE
5FMALIRERE

- RANRETHTEZTRSIAER
EREZHMAES -

EECHMBR
ESFMIayMEZEeRENET
RARMBEDETE - ARAFR_-F
“ZETAT-ARGBRERSS
EANERERDESE2RBBERARE
KIFHeUAKEELER AR BT
MEERES  ARKNEBEEMBER -
AmEA DHEE - BER REBF
BEBN  REXBEMN ZEARR
BHER

EEHE_T_NFE=-A=T—HILHF
ERGEZ D2 HMETMT:

& 1l
@ o

Number of
Remuneration band persons ¥ B & = AE
Not more than HK$1,000,000 15 N #1,000,0007 7T 15

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,800,000 |

The remuneration of the senior management of the Company (including
|6 Directors) by band for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

1,000,001 7t 1,800,000/ 7T |
AR eRERE(PEICGESR)HE
CE_NMF=ZRA=T-HUEFEREGE
ElnzFHMESMT

Number of
Remuneration band persons ¥ M & = AB
Not more than HK$1,000,000 |5 881,000,000 T |5

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,800,000 |

Particulars regarding Directors' remuneration and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to
the Listing Rules are set out in notes |3 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board on a regular basis and make recommendations
to the Board regarding any proposed change and to review the board
diversity policy of the Company and review the measurable objectives
that the Board has set for implementing such policy and the progress
on achieving the objectives and appointment of directors and senior
management and succession planning for Directors. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee have been posted on the website of the
Stock Exchange and the Company, respectively.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by an independent non-executive
Director. The Nomination Committee comprised of one executive
Director and two independent non-executive Directors for the year
ended 3| March 2024, and one executive Director and one independent

non-executive Director as at the date of this report.
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The Nomination Committee held 7 meetings during the year ended REZEBEERHE_ZT_MF=HA
31 March 2024. Details of the attendance of the committee members are =+ —HIEFERT/IREZE - ZEE
as follows: KEZHEBEFERT:
Committee Members Attendance ZEEHE R ®
Mr. Zheng Yu (Chairman) 0/0 BFEE(FE)N(R 0/0
(appointed on 19 March 2024) —E_NE=ZRTAA
EZ)
Ms. Yang Xilin (appointed on 23 August 2023) 4/4 BEMZT(RZZT_= 4/4
NARZ+=REZF)
Mr. Man Wai Lun 5/7 XEBEE 5/7
Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023 and 5/5 BERBETHE(R-_T_=F 5/5
resigned on 19 March 2024) NAZ+ZREZ#E
TR=ZF-WEF
=ZA+hBEE)
Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023) 22 FTERBET(RZT_=F 212

NAZ+=R#E{)
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The major work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 3| March 2024 included, amongst other things, the following:

. reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

. reviewing the board diversity policy;

g considering and making recommendations to the Board for the
appointment of Directors and management;

g considering the re-election of Directors at the annual general
meeting of the Company held in September 2023; and

e reviewing and assessing the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors.

Board Diversity

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 30 August 2013 which sets out its approach to achieve
diversity on the Board to ensure that the Board has the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business with a view to achieving a

sustainable and balanced development of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into account
factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. Given the nature of the business of the Group, the Company
considers that it is beneficial for the Board to have some members with
experience and knowledge in the healthcare and liquor sectors.
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The Board recognises the benefits of gender diversity and considers that
gender diversity may bring more diversified views at Board level, gender
is not the only factor to be taken into account in considering appointment
to the Board. Appointment is made on merits after considering a number
of factors including the educational background, professional experience,
skills and knowledge of the candidate. Hence, the Board does not set
any particular targets on the number of female representation at the
Board. The Board and the Nomination Committee will closely monitor
and review from time to time the composition of the Board and will
take into account the board diversity policy including gender diversity in
considering appointment to the Board with an aim to introducing female
representation at the Board. As at 31 March 2024, the Board currently
has two female Directors out of eleven Directors, achieving the gender
diversity of the Board at approximately 18.2%. The Company has not set
any objectives for gender ratio in workforce or in senior management.
Appointment is primarily made on merits of the candidate after
considering a number of factors including the educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge of the candidate.

Nomination Policy

The Company had adopted a written Nomination Policy of the Group
which aims at assisting the Nomination Committee in identifying and
nominating suitable candidates for directorship based on the Board
Diversity Policy and sets out the nomination criteria and the nomination
procedures for (i) nominating new Director to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board; (ii) making recommendation to Shareholders regarding any
Director proposed for election or re-election at general meeting; and (iii)
nomination by Shareholders on election of new Director.

The Nomination Committee identifies candidates for directorship from
various channels, including but not limited to internal promotion and
referral by management. The Nomination Committee may also receive
nomination of candidates for election as Director(s) from shareholder(s).
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After the candidates are identified, the Nomination Committee will
consider the biographical information of the candidates and evaluate the
candidates based on the following criteria and make recommendation to
the Board accordingly:

—  character and integrity of the candidate;

—  educational background, qualifications (including professional
qualifications), knowledge and experience of the candidate which are
relevant to the business and operation of the Group;

—  time commitment of the candidate to the Group, taking into
consideration the other duties of the candidates; and

—  the board diversity policy of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to review
the relationship with the auditors of the Company; review the financial
information of the Group and oversee the Group's financial reporting
system, internal control procedures and risk management system. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee has been amended and re-
adopted by the Board on | April 2016 to include the risk management
function, and the same has been published on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company, respectively.

The Audit Committee comprised of three independent non-executive
Directors and a member of the Audit Committee has the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise for the year ended 31 March 2024 as at the date of this report.
Please refer to the paragraph headed “Independent Non-executive
Directors” in this section.
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The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 3| March ERZEERBE_T_MNEFE=A
2024. Details of the attendance of the committee members are as follows: ST-BLEFEREMRAEH% %8¢
KEZEEFBERT:
Committee Members Attendance ZEEHE i ®
Ms. Yang Xilin (Chairman) 212 BRI (FE) (R 212
(appointed on 23 August 2023) TE-=FENAZT=H
BEZE)
Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on 19 March 2024) 0/0 BFLE(R-_T-_MNF 0/0
ZATHhBEZMA)
Mr. Wang Zhenyu (appointed on 19 March 2024) 0/0 FRFEE(R-T-_MNEF 0/0
ZATHhBEZMA)
Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023 and 212 BEERLTER-S-_=F 2/2
resigned on 19 March 2024) NAZ+-HEZE
TRZFZWF
=ATNHEE)
Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023) I/1 IEREL(R=ZE==F I/
NAZ+=ZBEA)
Dr. Zhao, Shawn Xiaohong (resigned on 23 August 2023) I/1 HELZBLI(R-Z-=F I/

NAZ+=BEF)

The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year ERZEBEERBE_T_MF=H

ended 31 March 2024 included, amongst other things, the following: St RLEFEERTZEIEIEESE
RUAT&®E:

«  reviewing the annual results of the Group for the financial year +« BHEASEHE_T-_=F=-H
ended 31 March 2023 with the conclusion that the preparations ST-HEVREECFEEE
of such results have been complied with the applicable accounting RRRERFBEZREIAFS
standards; EREHERZRE:

*  reviewing the interim results of the Group for the six months ended - EFEHAEEABZE_Z_=FNA
30 September 2023; STHERBERZRHES:

. reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal control 0 ENASENSBEEREF AR
procedures and risk management system; and BERARZEI: R

. reviewing and recommending the re-appointment of the auditor to 0 R REEENZAREMTE
the Board for approval. ZeftE -
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
provides advice, services and supports to the Board. All Directors have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary is Mr. Wong Ka Sing (“Mr. Wong"). Mr. Wong has
complied with the relevant professional training requirement of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 March 2024.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditor and reviewing any non-audit services performed by
the external auditor. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the fee for

audit and non-audit services to the Company's external auditors, for the

REME

AR ZARIME(RARABEDRER
ESERMER BRBRXE FBAE
SO RARANEREERRRE -

NAMEAERALLE(EEE] - &
AERBE-_TE-_WNFE=A=+—HIt
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SR W% BUED

ERZECEREERIINERYM 2 ED
R EZEmEtt o ERERE
R - RBEZ-_T-_WE=A=+—H
EFE  ARBIINEZEARE 2 ZH

provision of services are as follows: REGEHRBERNT:
ZHONGHUI
hE
HK$'000
TER
Audit services 1% 8 IR 7% 1,300
Non-audit services (including review on interim financial ARG (EREHTHAUBER
information and risk management and internal control MWEREBERERANEZE R
systems) 180
1,480
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of
the financial statements of the Group. The responsibilities of the Directors
and auditor of the Company are set out on pages 93 to 94 of this annual
report.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year, the Board
had adopted appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgment and estimates that were prudent and reasonable and
ensured the consolidated financial statements are prepared on a “going
concern” basis (with supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary)
and showed a true view of the state of affairs of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024. The management had provided sufficient
explanation and information to the Board on the consolidated financial
statements to enable it to make an informed assessment of the financial
and other information put before it for approval. The auditor of the
Company had made a statement about their reporting responsibilities in
the Independent Auditor's Report.

Please refer to pages I3 to 22 for the basis for the qualified opinion and

the Company and the audit committee’s view on the matters.

The risk management and internal control systems and measures are
discussed in the paragraph headed "“Risk Management and Internal
Controls” in this section. The audit issues leading to the qualified opinion
are discussed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis”. The transactions concerned were entered into by the Company
after decisions were made at Board meetings and no irregularities were
observed. Some of the audit issues were caused by change of business
plans for business reasons or as a result of the pandemic in the past years.
Given the nature of the audit issues, the Company does not consider the
audit issues are caused by internal control deficiencies and considers the
internal control systems and measures remain adequate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible to ensure that adequate systems of internal
control and risk management are maintained within the Group, and to
review their effectiveness through the Audit Committee. The internal
control and risk management systems are designed to meet the Group's
particular needs and the risks to which it is exposed, and by their
nature can only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against
misstatement or loss and to manage, but not to eliminate, risks of failure
in achieving the Group's objectives. Practicable and effective internal
control systems and procedures and risk management systems have
been implemented by the Group to enhance internal control and risk
management on an ongoing basis.

The key objectives of the Control Systems include:
. safeguarding assets;

. ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of financial records and
reports,

. promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations and laws;
and

. promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations.
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MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS (“CONTROL SYSTEMS”)

Control structure
The Board

Audit Committee

responsible for the overall Control Systems and

reviewing their effectiveness;

oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing basis
with the assistance of Audit Committee;

ensure the maintenance of appropriate and
effective Control Systems in order to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and assets of the Group;

define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limit of authority; and

determine the nature and extent of significant risk
that the Company is willing to take in achieving the
strategic objectives and formulate the Group’s risk
management strategies.

oversee the Control Systems of the Group;

review and discuss with the management annually
to ensure that the management has performed its
duty to have effective Control Systems; and

consider major findings on internal control matters

and make recommendations to the Board.
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The management

Internal Audit

Function

Control approach

design, implement and monitor the Control
Systems properly and ensure the Control Systems
are executed effectively;

monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks

in day-to-day operations;

give prompt responses to, and follow up the

findings on internal control matters; and

provide confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Control Systems.

carry out the analysis and independent appraisal
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Control
Systems; and

alert the management/Audit Committee/Board
on the audit review findings or irregularities, if
any, and advise them on the implementation of
necessary steps and actions to enhance the internal

controls of the Group.

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk evaluation

and risk management measures.

The management conducted interviews with relevant staff members,

reviewing relevant documentation of the internal control system,

identifying and evaluating findings of any deficiencies in the design of

the Group's internal control system, providing recommendations for

improvement and following up on the effectiveness of implementation

of such recommendations, where appropriate. The scope and findings of

review on the risk management and internal control are reported to and

reviewed by the Audit Committee annually.
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Procedure manuals and operational guidelines are in place to safeguard
the assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring maintenance
of proper accounting records in compliance with the applicable laws,
rules and regulations for the provision of reliable financial information for

internal use and/or external publication.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY
The Group believes in fairness and honesty in business dealing and does
not tolerate corruption, bribery, money laundering and other fraudulent
activities in connection with any of its business operations. The Group
strictly adheres to relevant regulations and laws, such as the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Anti-
money Laundering and Counter-terrorist Financing Ordinance (Cap. 615
of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group requires employees to strictly
conform to the code of business ethics as stipulated in the employment
contracts and internal guidelines. Cases of conflict of interest must
be reported to the Group's management. Employees who engage in
business operations and represent the Company’s professional image are
strictly prohibited from using business opportunities for personal interest
or benefit. Service contracts in different amounts are required to be
examined and approved by different levels of management. For the year
ended 31 March 2024, the Group was not aware of any cases of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.
The Group has adopted a whistleblowing policy to encourage and enable
employees to raise serious concerns within the Group. The policy allows
employees to raise genuine concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, compliance, and other malpractice, at the earliest
opportunity and in an appropriate way, without fear of reprisal.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Board has appointed a professional firm during the year ended
31 March 2024 to review the risk management and internal control
system of the Group. The report identified the findings in internal control
system of the Company, the risks associated with operating units of the
Company and the recommendations to rectify the findings in internal
control systems and to lower the risks identified. The recommendations
are adopted for implementation by the Company in due course.

The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation from the
management on the effectiveness of the Control Systems of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

During the year ended 3| March 2024, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has reviewed effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal
control and risk management in respect of financial, operational and
compliance aspect annually and considers that the systems are adequate
and effective.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has also reviewed the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions, and
consider that they are adequate.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy™)
where the Company would, where the situation allows, declare dividends
to shareholders taking into consideration the Group's distributable
profits generated during the vyear, the financial situation and liquidity of
the Group, the funding needs for future investment and development
purposes. The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions
under the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong and the articles

of association of the Company.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR

THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of SFO and the Listing Rules
in relation to the handling and dissemination of inside information. The
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as reasonably
practicable. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the
Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained
or that confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would
immediately disclose the information to the public.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company regards high quality reporting as an essential element
in building successful relationships with its shareholders. The Company
always endeavour to provide relevant information to existing and potential
investors, not only to comply with the different requirements in force
but also to enhance transparency and communications with shareholders
and the investing public. Regular and publicly available disclosures about
important issues, including performance, fundamental business strategy,
governance and the management of risk are made through various
channels:

*  the Company's annual general meeting;

. interim and annual results announcements published on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange;

. interim and annual reports of the Company delivered to all
shareholders;

*  timely update of the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

. meeting with shareholders;
. circulars and letters to shareholders; and

. prompt news releases and announcements regarding major
corporate actions and business initiatives.
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The Company maintains a website at www.kinginternational.hk where the
Company's announcements, circulars, notices, financial reports, business
developments, press releases and other information are posted.

The Company is committed to ensuring that it is in full compliance
with disclosure obligations stipulated under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations, and that all shareholders and potential
investors of the Company have an equal opportunity to receive and obtain
externally available information that is released by the Group.

The Company always welcome shareholders’ views and input.
Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time address their
concerns to the Company by mail to the Company's principal office in
Hong Kong at Two Chinachem Exchange Square, No. 338 King's Road,
North Point, Hong Kong.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting by shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting forward proposals at general meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary at the Company's principal office in Hong Kong at
Two Chinachem Exchange Square, No. 338 King's Road, North Point,
Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder,
his/her contact details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward
at general meeting regarding any specified transaction/business and its

supporting documents.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There has been no change to the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

SEEARE

RERASLEZES
BRRABHEAATNEELIERER (G
IRERLAREENRSRERRFE
SR MEEE R AT NERLEERDR
Ko ETIIRZRR BEER  AFH
MEHEN  ARRAREAREEER/
FEMARRAEGLREZEZLE
i e

BEXH

ARABEXMHREE-Z-_NF=A
ST-HEFEHRELZE -

83

L\



King International Investment Limited

Annual Report 2024

Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% B RS

0p S

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

KING INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS: LIFE HEALTHCARE GROUP LIMITED)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of King
International Investment Limited (formerly known as Life Healthcare
Group Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the "Group”) set out on pages 95 to 183, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including of material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described
in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Interest in associates

@

The Group acquired 30% equity interest in Guangzhou Manrui
Biotech Company Limited (“Manrui Biotech”) on 5 August
2016. Manrui Biotech specialises in research and development
of genetic testing technologies, and in particular non-invasive
cancer screening and diagnosis. At the time of the acquisition,
there is an agreement procuring the Group to exclusively
utilize Manrui Biotech'’s genetic testing and related technologies
(without monetary consideration). The cost of the investment
was approximately HK$65,129,000. The Group obtained a
valuation price allocation of Manrui Biotech on 5 August 2016
and the investment is recorded as interest in an associate since

the acquisition.

Manrui Biotech's genetic testing and related technologies had
not generated any income in its financial statements since the
Group's acquisition, nor contributed to the Group's revenue.
The Group has fully impaired the investment in Manrui Biotech
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

We were unable to obtain the financial information to support
the basis and assumptions adopted in the valuation of the
purchase price allocation of the associate, as well as in the
valuation in the subsequent year end dates which were used
for impairment assessment of the Group’s interests in Manrui
Biotech. Such basis and assumptions included the forecast
of Manrui Biotech, the growth rates and the discount rates
adopted in the valuation. As such, the value of the genetic
testing technologies cannot be reliably determined.
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We have not yet obtained sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the balance of
translation reserve of that associate of HK$2,163,000 (Credit)
were properly recorded as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

During the year ended 3| March 2022, the Group invested
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$36,990,000)
and RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$30,824,000) in two associates, namely 8 & /1 & & (It
PRIRREEBERRAA and LREARTERESEMAR
A R), respectively. The Group holds 25% equity interests in
each of these two associates. These two associates engaged
in healthcare services in the People's Republic of China
(the "PRC"). We were unable to perform audit works on
the financial statements of the two associates, specifically
arrangement of bank confirmations to confirm the material
bank balances of the associates as at 3| March 2022.

The two associates were de-registered during the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the Group obtained full refund
of the investment costs of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$34,270,000) and RMB25,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$28,558,000) from the two
associates.

We have not yet obtained sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the gain/(loss) of HK$Nil
on deregistration of the two associates for the year ended 3|
March 2023.
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Other receivables

Prepayments for healthcare supplies and vehicle remodelling
services

As at 31 March 2023, the Group recorded prepayments for
purchases of approximately HK$98,454,000 to two materials
suppliers (say, suppliers A and B) for purchases of disinfectant
materials, and prepayments of approximately HK$8,081,000 to a
supplier (supplier C) for provision of vehicle remodelling services.

Up to 31 March 2023, the Group has not yet received the
disinfectant materials from both suppliers A & B. In April 2023, the
Group entered into cancellation agreement with Supplier A and
Supplier A was deregistered in the same month. The Group has
requested for full refund of the amounts prepaid of approximately
HK$28,889,000. Up to the date of issuing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group received
refund of approximately HK$23,333,000 and the remaining
outstanding balance of approximately HK$5,556,000 were impaired.
We were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
about the details of the suppliers and the reasons for the transaction.

For supplier B, up to 31 March 2023, the Group has not yet received
the disinfectant materials from this suppliern. We were unable to
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the reason
that no products were received, and whether the prepayments of
approximately HK$69,565,000 can be recoverable. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, the Group received the disinfectant materials
amounted to approximately HK$69,565,000 from Supplier B.
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For supplier C, up to 31 March 2023, no vehicle remodelling services
were received by the Group. We were unable to obtain sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence that whether the remodelling
services will be carried out as planned, and the recoverability of
the amounts of approximately HK$8,081,000 prepaid. During the
year ended 3| March 2024, the Group disposed of the subsidiary
which held the prepayment for the vehicle remodelling services and
recorded a gain on disposal of approximately HK$2,116,000.

In respect of the abovementioned transactions, we were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence or satisfactory
management explanations to ascertain the nature of the prepayment
of approximately HK$28,889,000 and HK$8,081,000 to Supplier A
and Supplier C, respectively as at 31 March 2023.

Equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income

The equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income relates to Beijing Life Healthcare Zhongcheng Medical
Technologies Co., Lid(t R EM A XK BB R K E R 2 7))
(the “Investee™), with principal activities such as research and
development of medical technology innovations of genomics, cell
therapy and their application in the field of human health and
precision medicine. As at 26 June 2020, the Group has entered
into a joint venture agreement pursuant to which the Group has
contributed RMB30,000,000 in the Investee, represented 15% of its

share capital.
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During the vyear ended 31 March 2022, we have not obtained
sufficient financial information of the Investee, which form the basis
for assessing the underlying assumptions and calculation of the fair
value of the Investee. The equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income was disposed during the year ended 3|
March 2023.

We were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves as to whether the fair value loss on equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income of
approximately HK$Nil was properly recorded for the year ended 31
March 2023.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group’s financial performance and cash flows
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 and the financial positions of
the Group as at 31 March 2023, and the related disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group had current liabilities of approximately
HK$67,652,000, but the Group only had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$473,000. Besides, the Group had a net operating cash
outflow of approximately HK$32,319,000 for the year ended 3| March
2024. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matter is a matter that, in our professional judgement, was of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. In addition to the matters described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section and the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
section, we have determined the matter described below to be the key
audit matter to be communicated in our report.

Trade and other receivables
Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amounts of trade and other receivables for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because
the aggregate balance of trade and other receivables of approximately
HK$133,629,000 as at 31 March 2024 is material to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves
application of judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.
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Our audit procedures included, among others: ZMNEREFERE(ERBH) -

—  Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit limits and credit - i BEEBFRBMRATERPREBA
periods to customers and debtors; KTEERBEREEHNNER:

—  Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history with - Wt BEEEEEP BHAK
customers, debtors and suppliers; HEENEENIZEL

~  Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment; - B EEBEORHENG;

—  Assessing the aging of the debts; - AHEBREK:

—  Checking subsequent settlements from customers, debtors and - EEP BBHANBELZED
usage of prepayments; &ﬂ‘g NRERE:

—  Assessing the credit worthiness of customers, debtors and suppliers; - HEEFP EBALRBEENE
and N

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit risk in the - it ERERGRUMBRERT
consolidated financial statements. B EEREERR E’] W& o

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade and other HfiRA X EBEEERKEFRHEME

receivables is supported by the available evidence. WHENRE S A FARERE S

Inventories 7E

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements SHEE B REMT20

The Group tested the amount of inventories for impairment. This EEEHEESRETTRENR - %
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of inventory  BEHNREEMNEZMEBEBEN ' R
of HK$196,605,000 as at 3| March 2024 is material to the consolidated ~ERR_-_Z_ME=A=+—-HBFE#H
financial statements. In addition, the Group's impairment test involves £8196,605,0008 TH R G M BwMEMm 5
application of judgement and is based on estimates. BEXR-its EXEMAERANRY
NERAIE - WA AER -
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Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the Group's procedures on ordering and holding of
inventories:

—  Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;

—  Assessing the marketability of the inventories;

—  Assessing the ageing of the inventories;

—  Assessing the net realisable values of the inventories; and
—  Checking subsequent sales and usage of the inventories.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for inventories is supported
by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company's annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section
above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about
the interest in associates, other receivables and equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Accordingly, we are unable
to conclude whether or not the other information is materially misstated
with respect to these matters.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/
auditre

This description forms part of our auditor's report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374
Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

2024 2023
“RCmE —F-_=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
fif 5 TER TET
Revenue W g 7 233,681 223,853
Cost of sales and services HERRBEAA (195,892) (211,804)
Gross profit EA 37,789 12,049
Bank interest income |ITMERA I 10
Other income and gains B g A KU & 9 6,450 |,743
Share of result of associates PIEEE AR 2 K& 8 (15) 288
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (1,336) (1,252)
Administrative and other expenses TR EAM R X (18,819) (43,320)
Finance costs Bt B AR 10 (200) (227)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREAER(BE) 23,870 (30,709)
Income tax expense FERRX I (8,756) (1,044)
Profit/(loss) for the year KEERAN/(BB) 12 15,114 (31,753)
Other comprehensive income/(expense): Htt2EWE /(%)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to ~ REAHEF A B E Bz 2
profit or loss: EH
Exchange differences arising on translation of MEBNEBREEZ
foreign operations X =R (3,142) (25,000)
Share of foreign currency translation reserve of D — KB & D7) 2 IMNE
an associate BEREE (103) "
Reclassification of translation reserve to profit HENBARBMBRERE
or loss upon disposal of a subsidiary ENNEEER 39 -
(3,206) (25,001)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) AEE2EWNE(AX)AH
for the year 11,908 (56,754)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZZT_NF=RA=+—HIFE

2024 2023
g g1 3 —EZZ=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
fif 5 TER TET
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: UAPATEEXREE
wH/(B#])
Owners of the Company ARTIERA 15,818 (25,192)
Non-controlling interests FHERER (704) (6,561)
15,114 (31,753)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for UTATELEEAEER2E
the year attributable to: W/ (%) @8
Owners of the Company AREEBA 13,498 (51,143)
Non-controlling interests R & (1,590) (5,611
11,908 (56,754)
Earnings/(loss) per share SRER/(F8) 5
Basic and diluted (HK cents) ELXREBEEN) 0.96 (.71
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Asat 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_ME=/F=+—H

2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 TEx TET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment nx - BERR 16 138 17,750
Right-of-use assets ERESE 17 3,169 -
Interest in associates REE DA 2R 18 1,885 2,003
Equity investment at fair value through other FRAMEZERERATE
comprehensive income SR 2 RARE 19 235 248
5,427 20,001
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FEE 20 196,605 =
Loan and interest receivables A E R KA B 21 = 3,442
Trade and other receivables e E 5 & H i e U 518 22 133,629 223,040
Bank balances and cash RITEHEE 23 473 17,786
330,707 244,268
Current liabilities TBEE
Trade and other payables BB 5 R H th B 15 508 24 41,900 19,626
Lease liabilities MEARE 25 774 765
Contract liabilities BHaRE 26 9,033 =
Borrowings &% 27 2,500 2,500
Tax payable R IE 13,445 4,92
67,652 28,812
Net current assets REBEERE 263,055 215,456
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BREERRBAR 268,482 235457
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Asat 3| March 2024 R-ZE-WME=A=+—H

2024 2023
“EmE - =F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5% TET TET
Non-current liabilities *(RBER
Lease liabilities MEARE 25 2,433 2,462
2,433 2,462
NET ASSETS EEFE 266,049 232,995
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital BRA 28 92,521 77,101
Reserves [ 29 177,326 160,404
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AARBEAEEER 269,847 237,505
Non-controlling interests FERER (3,798) (4,510)
TOTAL EQUITY EmAax 266,049 232,995

The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 183 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2024 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Wang Mengyao
IgE
Director

EF
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

ﬁT

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARAAELR
Non-
Share Share Contributed  Translation Other  Revaluation Share option Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
BA BhHEE SARR BEEE AbEE  EURE BRERE 2HEBR Mt ERRES st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T TR TR TR TER TER TER TER FER TR TR
(Note i) (Note ii)
GED) (Rt i)

At | April 2022 RZZZZ§MA-H 64251 1,293,598 167,780 7,586 5518 (3.288) 17136 (1290298) 262,283 1101 263,384

Issue of shares upon share placing ROEERETRY 12,850 13,515 = = = = = = 26,365 26,365

Total comprehensive income/(expense)  AEE2EMNE / (B%)

for the year 8E - - - (25950 - - - 5I9) L) Gl (56754)

At 31 March 2023 R=F=-=f%

=A=t-H 77,101 1,307,113 167,780 (18,365) 5518 (3,288) 17136 (1,315490) 237,505 (4.510) 232995
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARAEEARE
Non-
Share Share Contributed ~ Translation Other  Revaluation Share option Accumulated controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
Rx  RGEE AABH BEREE HtEE EHEE BRERE RHER Mt FERER @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TR TR TR TR TR TR Tin Tin Tin
(Note i) (Note ii)
(Hf &) (M &)

At | April 2023 RZZE-=6M0A-H 77100 1,307,113 167,780 (18,365) 5,518 (3,288) 17,136 (1,315,490) 237,505 (45100 232995

Issue of shares upon share placing ROEERETRA 8,024 1,305 - - - - - - 9,329 - 9,329

Issue of shares upon share subscription R {32 E%ﬂ'r?&%ﬂﬂw\ 7,39 2,119 = = = = = = 9,515 = 9,515

Disposal of a subsidiary HERBER = = = = = = = = = 2,302 2,302

Total comprehensive income/(expense) $¢E§EU&§/(%§

for the year B% - - - (2,359 - - - 15,857 13,498 (1,590) 11,908

At 31 March 2024 RZZ-mE

EfET=0 92,521 1,310,537 167,780 (20,724) 5,518 (3,288) 17036 (1,299,633) 269,847 (3,798) 266,049

Notes: Pt &t -

() The contributed surplus represents the difference between nominal value of the (i) BABBREADRMEERBARRGE
shares of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and the nominal value of the shares BEANABER-_ZSE_FNAZE4
of the Company issued for the acquisition pursuant to the reorganisation in April ETRBRETROAECES -

2002.

(i) The other reserve represents the transfer from share options reserve upon exercise iy EHEnHEEEERBEETESEERER

of share options. HE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZZT_NF=RA=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-ME B S ;2
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
it & TR TET
Cash flows from operating activities RERDMERERE
Profit/(loss) before tax BR AR (E8) 23,870 (30,709)
Adjustments for: BT IBEELHE:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE BERREFE 3,155 2,678
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 448 ,368
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary &I B AR a 33 (2,116) =
Share of result of an associate PIEHE AR 2 K& ) (288)
Bank interest income |ATHERA (1) (10)
Finance cost Bt % X AR 200 227
Impairment of trade receivables A E 5 HERE 5,217 84|
Impairment of prepayments and deposit ANRERERERE - 18,807
Impairment of other receivables H ity e W SR IB R B 943 -
Impairment of right-of-use assets fEREEEMNE = 4,163
Early termination of lease agreement RAKIERERZ (3,355) (7)
Operating cash flows before movements LEESEHAIZ
in working capital REREME 28,376 (2,930)
Change in inventories REE (75,106) 9
Change in loan and loan interest receivables ERER K ERER
MEZE 3,442 (3442)
Change in trade and other receivables EYE 5 R E M IR
= (20,106) (114,104)
Change in trade and other payables NECVEL N IS
= 22,274 (13911)
Change in contract liabilities BHNEGEED 9,033 -
Cash used in operations EERRARE (32,087) (134,378)
Income tax paid B A5 (232) (11)
Net cash used in operating activities ReTEHMARSREE (32,319) (134,489)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=E
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET

Cash flows from investing activities REZDMBRERE

Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEDX BENRRME - (214)

Investment of an associate BenrsiE - (1,714)

Deregistration of associates - WNGE €< - 62,628

Disposal of equity investment at fair value HERBHEM2EK R

through other comprehensive income BATYEIREZRARE - 34,159

Bank interest received B IR 177 2 | 10
Net cash generated from investing activities RETBFMEREFH I 94,869
Cash flows from financing activities MEZDRERERE

lssue of shares upon share placing R EERETRG 9,329 26,365

Issue of shares upon share subscription R RERETRG Lo -

Lease interests paid EfEERE (176) (164)

Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERRE (1,282) (1,300)

Proceeds from new borrowings raised MERRMERE - 2,500
Net cash generated from financing activities MEETBRMERESFHE 17,386 27401
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalent ReRBEEENRLFHE (14,932) (12,219)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning RENzZBEERREZED

of the year 17,786 37,402
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate NEEXRH I X E (2,381) (7,397)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year REKZRERREEEY 473 17,786
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEIAIN

Bank and cash balances RIIEB & &% 473 |7786

101

“\



King International Investment Limited

Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R B AR MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZZT_NF=RA=+—HIFE

102

GENERAL INFORMATION

King International Investment Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability under Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on 12
March 2001 and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as of 29
April 2002. The address of the registered office of the Company is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KYI-
[111, the Cayman Islands and the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong is Suite 2001, 20th Floor, Two Chinachem
Exchange Square, No. 338 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in sales
of liquor business, healthcare products and services business and

money lending business.

The functional currency of the Company and the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). The
functional currency of the Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC is Renminbi (*RMB"). For the convenience of the consolidated
financial statements users, the results and financial position of the
Group are presented in HK$ as the Company’s shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group had current liabilities of approximately HK$67,652,000,
but the Group only had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$473,000. Besides, the Group had a net operating cash outflow
of approximately HK$32,319,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations for at least the next twelve months from the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements, after taking into
consideration of the followings:

(i) the Group has implemented measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding trade receivables;

(i) the Group continues to improve the operating efficiency by
implementing measures to tighten cost controls over various
operating expenses in order to enhance its profitability and to
improve the cash flow from its operation in future;

(iii) the Group's liquor business recorded profit for the year and is
expected to generate profit in the future; and

(iv) the Group will actively negotiate with various financial
institutions and potential lenders/investors to secure new
financing arrangement to meet the Group's working capital and
financial requirements in the near future. The Group will also
actively seek opportunities to carry out fund raising activities
including but not limited to the placing of new shares as
alternative sources of funding.
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GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

Having regard to the cash flow projection of the Group, which are
prepared assuming that the above measures are successful, the
directors are of the opinion that, in the light of the measures taken
to-date, together with the expected results of the other measures
in progress, the Group will have sufficient funding resources to
satisfy its future working capital and other financing requirements.
The directors believe that the aforementioned measures will be
successful, based on the continuous efforts by the management of
the Group.

However, should the above measures not be able to implement
successfully, the Group may not have sufficient funds to operate as a
going concern, in which case adjustments might have to be made to
reduce the carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable
amounts, to reclassify the non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively, and to

provide for any further liabilities which might arise.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
that are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting
year beginning on | April 2023. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“"HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of these
new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the
Group's accounting policies and amounts reported for the current

year and prior years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the investments which
are carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise their judgements
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving
critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
note 4.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 3|
March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The
Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing rights
that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity's returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights
as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine
whether it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if
the holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
subsidiary and any related accumulated translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to the owners of the Company.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods
in which the costs are incurred and the services are received.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition
are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-date
fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss. The fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to

calculate the goodwill.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
in the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive income
(for example, equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income), the amount that was recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised on the same basis as would be
required if the previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
The method of measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same
as that of other assets as stated in the accounting policy below.
Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss and are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated
to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders' proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control
or joint control over those policies. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible,
including potential voting rights held by other entities, are considered
when assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to significant
influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or
convert that right is not considered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognised
at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the associate's identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is tested for impairment together
with the investment at the end of each reporting period when there
is objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss
of significant influence represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group's share of
the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating
to that associate and any related accumulated translation reserve.
If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and does
not remeasure the retained interest.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset

transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.

Foreign currency translation
(a)  Functional and presentation currency

(b)

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK$, which is the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4 EBEARBHBESE)
Foreign currency translation (Continued) NERE(E)
(c) Translation on consolidation () HEHRARHKRE

The results and financial position of all the group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Group's
presentation currency are translated into the Group's

presentation currency as follows:

—  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at

the date of that statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the exchange rates on the

transaction dates); and

—  All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the translation reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on

disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the

foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their costs less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful
lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3 years
Furniture fixtures and equipment 3 =5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.
Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The

principal annual rates are as follows:

14.28% — 50%
Equipment 33%

Land and buildings

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the lease payments discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined,
or otherwise the Group'’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of
value below US$5,000.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of
finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to

the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income
On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading
as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
equity investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition
of an investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the equity investment revaluation reserve are
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are
the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a
default occurring as the weights.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
the expected credit losses that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial

recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents
the expected credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the

reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount
is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group's cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial

liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in

which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
For a contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied
over time if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance;

—  the Group'’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

—  the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable

right to payment for performance completed to date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is

recognised by reference to the progress towards complete

satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is

recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of

the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

@

(b)

(©

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the at the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees. Contributions to
the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged in profit or loss represents contributions
payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs

and involves the payment of termination benefits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees are
measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based
vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant.
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of shares that will
eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based

vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured
at the fair value of the services rendered or if the fair value of the
services rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value
of the equity instruments granted. The fair value is measured at
the date the Group receives the services and is recognised as an

expense.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences, unused
tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group's most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
the performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually material

may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Company are members of the same

group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a

group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4 EBEARBHBESE)
Related parties (Continued) WL (E)
(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of (b) THETHFEMEN AE
the following conditions applies: (Continued) BHEER)EALEEHER
B (&)
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the V) ZEBRRKAEENHE
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity AEERHBNERDN
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, 18 & M & M &% 37 #) B B
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group. BRMETE - WAK
R RZarel RIRR®
EEMRBEEIMEARE
BRE
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person vy ZREBXQBFMH
identified in (a). Bl &9 A+ 12 5k L R %
i o
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (viiy B @)() P& Al A+ % %
over the entity or is a member of the key management EREEAYENLE
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). ZEB(RZEBNE
RA)EBEEEKE
(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (vii) ZERBAHEMBEEE E’]
part, provides key management personnel services to the ERKE AR RAR
Company or to a parent of the Company. /N A S /N }E1
TEEEEBAEBRS -
Impairment of assets EEMNE
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying REREMR AEEKERHE
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except investments, BAVRETEERE HFERE
inventories and receivables, to determine whether there is any WHERINZ REE NETZ
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If FEEROCUBEMAEBERN
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is ReWEREBABKR BEEtE
estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss. EZAREHE LETRES
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an BZRE - fdkaeMatEREE
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the ZA Y B BEE - BIK & B R %
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. BEMBREESEML 2@
SE
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating
unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss

is treated as a revaluation increase.

EXREHBRE)
EEREE)
AU 8RR T A E R A
HEREBEECRSE - BEFGEE
AEER Bt RRRERER
FRARRENMSHEERKHE
RZEERBRR ZHAFTEX
FREABME -

REEFIREELEN 27K E
BRAESTENEERARE MEE
FRCELABUNREAEKARE
HA e & - RESRNER
Bad BRFEEHEERER
TBIE R&FERT BME
BEEGREMAE -

Rl EHRALKER  AEEX
ReELENREEEEZAEATNK
B 88z BERT T E - AT
MEEESFSREBRRNEFZ
EEXRCELEM T ERAR
EBERNERTEE < KEER
HEREBHEKTE) BREBERD
IERNERER RIFEAHEE
REGREEINE RAFERT
REBRBROESERREE -



V

FIEBREARAA
2024 £ FERS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R R R MG

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures

expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group's position at the end of the reporting period or
those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate
are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements when material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have

made the following judgements that have the most significant effect

on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

@

(b)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
successful completion of the certain measures as mentioned
in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements to improve
its operating results and cash flows. The directors of the
Company believe that the Group will have sufficient funds to
finance its current working capital requirements in the next
twelve months from the end of the reporting date. Details are
explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Control over a subsidiary

Notwithstanding the lack of equity ownership in & A (1t
R)BERKRERAT (Life Healthcare (Beijing) Co., Ltd*)
(“Life Healthcare™), the Group is able to exercise control
over Life Healthcare and its subsidiaries (“Life Healthcare
Group"”) through a series of agreements with all of its ultimate
shareholders (the “Structural Agreements”).

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the
Group has control over Life Healthcare based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of Life Healthcare unilaterally. In making their judgement,
the directors of the Company considered the Group's rights
through the Structural Agreements, and concluded that the
Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of Life Healthcare and therefore the Group
has control over Life Healthcare.
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EEHERTEMRS(E)
B THBERZERRR

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued) 5.

“\

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of

estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have

a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

TXHRRBESHREE KA R

SIBET—

FBRERAHEER

BECREEFEENBEZER

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are H#XZ T 2R& K HEAM MG A A

discussed below. BABEREZEERIR -

(a) Impairment loss of trade and other receivables (a) BEUESREMERFER
EER

The Group makes impairment loss of trade and other

receivables based on assessments of the recoverability

AEBEZREES R EME
WO RRE B 1R TS AR 13 B R

of the trade and other receivables, including the current WB 5 K H A FE W IR AT iR
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each debtor. itz EEL BEEM

Impairments arise where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use of
judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful

EHACBRMEERBER
Rk - RBELEEHRER
LWEEE Brar@a ek
EWERELRRE A&E
F R A R AT A BRI R

BE-HMERSERBHIRER

debt expenses in the year in which such estimate has been ;HE i RREERERTE
changed. MEFEREHFERENE
H&Zfﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬂfﬂ& R IE A K

FERAX ZREE
(b) Impairment loss of interest in associates (b) REELGZEZAEERE
Interest in an associate is reviewed for impairment whenever MELEEHABERLRZE

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Value-in-use calculations are
used for assessing the recoverable amount of these interests.

These calculations require use of judgements and estimates.

BN IR E ] B R B -
ISR ERA 2 BRET
BER - EHEETER
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B REAEABRAGR
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5.

130

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(b) Impairment loss of interest in associates (Continued)

Management judgement is required for assessing impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred
that may indicate that the related carrying value of interests
may not be recoverable; and (i) whether the carrying value
of the interests can be supported by the recoverable amount.
Changing the estimations used by management in assessing
impairment could materially affect the recoverable amount
used in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group's

consolidated financial position and consolidated results of

operations.

(c) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use

assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is determined with reference to the fair value less costs of
disposal. Where the fair value less costs of disposal are less
than expected or there are unfavourable events and change in
facts and circumstance which result in revision of fair value less

costs of disposal, a material impairment loss may arise.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

()

@)

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for the Group's
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives and residual
values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold.

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back
in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.
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132

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential

adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in the functional currencies of
the Group's entities. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to loan receivables which carried at fixed rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances.

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the expected
change in interest rate will not have significant impact on the
interest income on bank balances, hence sensitivity analysis is
not presented.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(©)

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances, trade and
other receivables, loan receivables and loan interest receivables
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the Group’'s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to the Group's financial assets.

As at 3| March 2024, the Group had certain concentration of
credit risk as approximately 25% (2023: 81%) and 67% (2023:
100%) of the Group's trade receivables were due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period by comparing the risk of
a default occurring as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following information is used:

—  actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant change to the borrower's ability to
meet its obligations;
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6.

134

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(©)

Credit risk (Continued)
— actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the borrower;

—  significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the same borrower:;

—  significant changes in the value of the collateral or in the
quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

—  significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is
more than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment.
A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to

make contractual payments within 60 days when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally
categorises a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor
fails to make contractual payments longer than 360 days past
due. Where loans or receivables have been written off, the
Group, if practicable and economical, continues to engage
in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the loans or
receivables due.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6.

(©)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision
is determined for each of the categories. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss
rates for each category and adjusts for forward looking data.

MERBEEE)

 FERRGE)
AEEREESIEUFKED
AME URBEEERR
LEBERBRBBZET

TR RABEEHREEER
2R -AKREZRZENZ
FE 52 85 18 R Jo pi AT BE 14 B
fEHAE -

Category Definition Loss provision

Pl EE BRE®

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12 month expected losses
B % & KRR 1K KR SR RE o8 1218 A 78 H &5 18
Non-performing Significant increase in credit risk Lifetime expected losses
& EE B BELN THEHER

Liquidity risk d) RBELER

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis of the Group's financial liabilities is as
follows:

ZK’EEIZE H R EB‘H@”

& 18 H /JHJ@J BEd * ’
ﬁ€1%,\,ﬁh)%%@fﬁiﬁﬁ
KmmEEBARRAZED
BLER -

AEEHBEEZIHHN
mF

Less than | year

D%

HK$’000
At 31 March 2024 R-Z2-NE=A=t+-H TER
Trade and other payables RN 5 & B e 3B 41,900
Borrowings f& % 2,500
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

BHREBERZ)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) d) RBELREEE)
Less than | year
PR —F
HK$'000
At 31 March 2023 R-_F_=f=A=t—H TET
Trade and other payables FEfT B 5 K H th &4 5018 19,626
Borrowings f& X 2,500
(e) Categories of financial instruments ) MBIEER
2024 2023
—EC-NEF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT THTT
Financial assets: MEEE:
Fquity investment at fair value through & B E {1 2 B &=
other comprehensive income BATEIIEZ
B E 235 248
Financial assets at amortised cost REHMANTE UK
(including cash and cash equivalents)y B E(BEHReERE
SEM) 92,583 142,712
Financial liabilities: MBRE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ H#EHK ARG E 2
MEaE 44,400 22,126
(f)  Fair values f 2¥E

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities at amortised cost as reflected in the
consolidated statement of financial position approximate their

respective fair values.
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REVENUE 7. Wi
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for services RaEBAEERNEFERIARAE
provided by the Group to outside customers during the year. FPRERSEZE R EWFIE -
2024 2023
—E-NmE —EC-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT TET
Revenue from contracts with customers  REXFP &4 K &
— Healthcare services —RERY - 2,866
— Healthcare products - RBEEMD 113,783 220,795
— Sales of liquor —BEHEE 119,844 -
Loan interest income EFAMEKA 54 192
233,681 223,853
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: REEFEAKBEDIN:
Geographical markets HETS
For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, HK$106,301,000 HE-_Z_NER-_FT-_=ZF=H
from healthcare services and trading of healthcare products were =+—HULFE BRBRERERE
recognised in PRC and HK$7482,000 were recognised in Hong E B % W & 9106,301,0007% 7T
Kong (2023: HK$179,978,000 from healthcare services and trading R B R R & 7482,0008 TR A
of healthcare products were recognised in PRC and HK$43,683,000 BRABCEZZF BERBLK
were recognised in Hong Kong). All revenue from sales of liquor f& R E a8 5 U & H179,978,000
were recognised in PRC. 78 TC I P B B 3R 243,683,000 T

REBEBER)  MAEERHEN S
BHRPEHER

Timing of revenue recognition Wi ERE

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, all revenues from BHE_ZE_NER-_E-_=F=FH
sales of liquor, healthcare services and trading of healthcare products S+—BLEFE 2HEHHEE -
were recognised at a point in time. BERELERERE S W&

NE—ERBHER -
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138

REVENUE (Continued)

Healthcare services

The service income is recognised when the services are rendered,
the amount for which can be reliably estimated and it is probable
that the income will be received.

A receivable is recognised when the services are rendered to the
customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before
the payment is due.

Healthcare products

Sales are recognised when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are delivered to a customer, there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer's acceptance
of the products and the customer has obtained legal titles to the
products. Sales to customers are normally made with credit period
within 365 days.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before
the payment is due.

Sales of liquor

Revenue from sales of liquor is recognised when control of the
goods has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to
the customer’s specific location (delivery). Following the delivery,
the customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and
price to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility on selling the
goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the
goods.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information was reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM"),
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focusing on types of goods or services delivered or
provided. This is also the basis upon which the Group is organised.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has three (2023: two)
operating and reportable segments, namely (i) healthcare products
and services business, (i) money lending business and (iii) sales of

liquor business.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment loss/
profit represents the loss/profit of each segment without allocation
of interest income, other income and gains, share of result of
associates and central administration costs. This is the measure
reported to the Group's CODM for the purposes of resource

allocation and performance assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating
resources among segments, all assets and liabilities are allocated to
operating segments on the basis of the revenue earned by individual
reportable segment. Segment assets exclude interest in associates,
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income, prepayment and unallocated corporate assets while segment
liabilities exclude tax payable and unallocated corporate liabilities.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. HMERE)
Segment revenue and results aHkEREE
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_F-_WEF=A=1-HIL¥E
Healthcare
products Money Sales of
and services lending liquor
business business business Total
BREEMR ik
RBXRHK REEHR HEXRK #st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TRT TET TET

Revenue Wz 113,783 54 119,844 233,681
Segment (loss)/profit P (EE),/ 5 H (3,170) (94) 28,037 24,773
Bank interest income |ITHIBIA I
Other income and gains Hit g A R & 6,450
Share of result of associates D IFHZ ARl 2 ¥4 (15)
Unallocated expenses AOEE X (7,339)
Profit before tax BR %% 510 i 7 23,870
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

8. SHERE)
THREREE(E)
Br_F_=—F=-A=+—HIFE

Healthcare

products Money Sales of

and services lending liquor
business business business Total

BEEMR ik
BB E® BEEH HEEK @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET TET
Revenue Wz 223,661 192 - 223,853
Segment (loss)/profit P (ER)/EF (16,115) 5 - (16,110)
Bank interest income |ITHIBIA 10
Other income and gains Hip g A R & 1,743
Share of result of associates 72 fH & 1A 288
Unallocated expenses A< (16,640)
Loss before tax BR % A1 &5 18 (30,709)
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8.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities
As at 31 March 2024

8. SHERE)
THEERER
R-E-@mWE=ZF=+—H

Healthcare
products Money Sales of
and services lending liquor
business business business Total
REERK ik
(e ES REXK HERK st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
Segment assets DHEE 36,060 9 285,509 321,578
Interest in associates NN 1,885
Equity investments at fair FRAMEERS
value through other BRRAFEIER
comprehensive income RAKE 235
Unallocated corporate assets K72 B AR & E 12,436
Consolidated total assets GREERE 336,134
Segment liabilities AEEE 16,801 5 30,533 47,349
Tax payable FEft B 13,445
Unallocated corporate APEAREE
liabilities 9,291
Consolidated total liabilites 4R & BEAH 70,085
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

8. ZHERE)
THEERAE(H)
R-E-ZfF=ZF=+—H

Healthcare
products Money Sales of
and services lending liquor
business business business Total
BREERR i
RBE X% EEXH® HEXRK @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Segment assets DEEE 257,222 3,451 - 260,673
Interest in associates NN 2,003
Equity investments at fair EREMEENS
value through other BRRFEIEL
comprehensive income RAKE 248
Unallocated corporate assets K72 B AR & E 1,345
Consolidated total assets HeEBRER®E 264,269
Segment liabilities AHERE 15,837 15 - 15,852
Tax payable FEf B 4,921
Unallocated corporate APEAREE
liabilities 10,501
Consolidated total liabilities 43 & B & 1458 31,274
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. HMERE)
Other segment information Hitt o HER
For the year ended 3/ March 2024 BE-E-_NF=FA=1—-HIL¥E
Healthcare
products Money Sales of
and services lending liquor
business business business  Unallocated Total
BREERR ik
REXE HEXE  HEXK AAE At

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TERL TERT TERT TR TERT

Depreciation of property, plant NE BERSENE

and equipment 3,155 - - - 3,155
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ff & E#f & = = 350 98 448
Impairment of trade receivables  JEUE 5 Z A B & 218 = 4,959 40 5217
Impairment of prepayments, BNRE Ee&k

deposits and other receivables H & SR IR R (B 102 = 762 79 943
For the year ended 3/ March 2023 BE-_F--F-HA=1—HIFE

Healthcare
products Money Sales of
and services lending liquor
business business business  Unallocated Total
BEEMR B
RBE%EH EEEE  HERK ADE @5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TAET TAT

Depreciation of property, plant NE BERSENE

and equipment 2,644 - - 34 2,678
Depreciation of right-of-use assets f HEEBEEH & 189 - - [,179 1,368
Impairment of trade receivables EWESFIBRE 841 - - - 841
Impairment of prepayments, BAFE &2k

deposits and other receivables H M Z B R E 16,375 = = 2,432 18,807
Impairment loss of right-of-use FREESEREEE

assets = = = 4163 4163

144



>

FIEBREARAA
2024 £ FERS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R R R MG

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

Healthcare services and trading of healthcare products revenue for
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, were revenue derived
from contracts with customers, the geographical information of
revenue could be referred to note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, loan interest income derived
from Hong Kong was approximately HK$54,000 (2023: HK$192,000).

Information about the Group's non-current assets by geographical
location of the assets are detailed below:

THBERE)

WEEN
BE_T-_WNER-_T-=%F=H
S+-HLEEE RERBEEE
EnESRaIREEFEHN A
Bl s thEBERTL2HKEEH
BHRRM LT

BE-_T-_ONE=A=+—HL
FE REEEZEXMBEEK
A& B540008 T(Z T = = F:
192,000 7T ) °

FRASEREEMENES D
ZHERDEEEHFENT :

2024 2023

—E-mE —E-=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FETT

PRC H B 5,314 19,828
Hong Kong BB 13 173
5,427 20,001
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. HMERE)
Information about major customers TERFEHR
2024 2023
“E-mE —T-=%
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERx TET
Healthcare products and services business {& 5% E m & BR 7% % 1%
Customer A EPA 33,784 =5
Customer B ZFB & 43,678
Customer C BBC 3 63,563
Customer D ZFD —* 113,382
& No revenue was generated from these customer for the year ended 3| * BEZZ-_NME=R=1+—HLF
March 2024. B -REREREZER
d No revenue was generated from this customers for the year ended 31 March # BE_ZT_=ZFf=ZfA=+—HLHF
2023. B RBEREREZRP -
9. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 9. HttlARK &
2024 2023
“E-mE —T_=%
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
Exchange loss, net [EHERFE - (998)
Compensation income mEKA - 1,178
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HENB AR 2 2,116 -
Gain on lease termination ME®IE 2 W= BSS -
Sundry income MEBA 979 1,563
6,450 1,743
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FINANCE COSTS 0. BIBAA
2024 2023
—E-MEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAET
Loan interest expenses ERF B 24 63
Lease interest HEME 176 164
200 227
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FERMAX
2024 2023
—E-ME “E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER THT
Hong Kong Profits Tax: BERMNGEH
— Current year —BAFE 40 1,044
PRC Enterprise income tax (the “EIT") o B 1 3K B 15
(TEXMEH])
— Current year - 8,716 ~
8,756 1,044

For the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong Profits
Tax is calculated under two-tier profits tax system under first HK$2
millions of estimated assessable profits is taxed at a rate of 8.25%
and remaining estimated assessable profits is taxed at 16.5%. The
Group should elect one of the Hong Kong subsidiaries to apply the
two-tier profits tax rate.

BE-_Z-_WNER-Z-_=F=H
S+-HLEEE BANGRE
FEBRMEGGTE G ER
i 7 82,000,000 7T &2 1 £8.25%
BT e (E AT RE SR TR A A
B RIS HH - AKEAET
Ebh—XEBHNBARIEAMA
H M B E o
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1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from | January 2008 onwards.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit/(loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FERRBXE)

@F$l¢%% oA %A
BREDERCEMGHEZE KK

H HERBARE S NF—

A—BRR 2B EE25% -

KERZHE

REAXEEA

8

aREMEARER ZBRA
wmA (BB HRMT :

2024 2023
ZECIRE —T=H
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT TET
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AR A (EE) 23,870 (30,709)
Taxation at the domestic income tax rate & 28 b F7 15 %4 17 % 8.25%
of 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) (ZTZ=%:825%) 5 165
Taxation at the domestic income tax rate & 8t BT 15 B0 8 % 16.5%
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (ZFZ=F : 165%) 3,916 (5281)
Tax effect of income not taxable and HARBA &Z: A HI 3%
expenses not deductible for tax purpose  FIX 2B 1§ & & (212) (209)
Effect of different tax rates of entities REMAEEREREE 2
operating in other jurisdictions ER TR E Z 2 2,939 (1,350)
Tax effect of temporary differences MABRERERZ
not recognised MEEE 1,638 4912
Tax effect on share of result of associates A A& i 38 70 1 B =
not recognised INCIES- PR 3% (3) (72)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised MABRNEERZ
hBRE 463 2,879
8,756 1,044
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from | January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of temporary differences attributable to the profits earned
by the PRC subsidiaries, the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s subsidiaries in the
PRC have unused tax losses of approximately HK$41,552,000 (2023:
HK$43,856,000) available for offset against future profits, which will
expire in five years. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the tax losses and the deductible temporary differences
due to unpredictability of future profit streams.

FERRBXE)
REFBEEEMEREZ B-F
FNF-A—HERTEMBEAA
P BR B R A B UK B9 BB B A
BB - AR AEEREZH HD
TREZELRE BEEETRE
BAURTERATRGRED &
I K wh o BB B 2 R BT R AR O A
TRCEREZEENRGAMBRER
fEHIEER AR -

RBERR REB2HEHRB
NEBHI41,552,0008 T (ZEE==
43,856,000 TT) 2 R EAF
BRAUEEFERREN  BRA
FREE - BHREZBETRRE
FIRE - MY BT EERA
MBREREZERRAECREEE
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2. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
The Group's profit/(loss) for the year is stated after charging/
(crediting) the following:

150

AEERR/(BR)
AEBZAFERMN /(BB
Nk (Be) THRREER:

2024 2023

—E-mEF —F_=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

TR TAET

Auditor’s remuneration Z BRI & 1,300 [,800

Cost of inventories sold BEEFERR 195,892 211,804

Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERIENE

equipment 3,155 2,678

Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 448 1,368

Expenses related to short-term lease RBHHERS 144 1,211

Impairment of trade receivables e & 5 F I8 B E 5,217 841
Impairment of prepayments, deposits and BRI HIE - &B& K

other receivables H fth FE W X IERLE 943 18,807

Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEERE - 4,163

Directors' remuneration (note 13) EEHM ) 1,637 2,646

Other staff costs Hih 8 TR A 2,650 4,854
Retirement benefits scheme contributions, & K 4& F &t &l it X

excluding directors (TBEEEZE) 148 199

Total staff costs BIRABE 4,435 7,699
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS 3. EERFETHAEMS
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-E-MFE=A=1+—-HILFE

Salaries Contribution
and other  to retirement

Fees benefits benefits scheme Total
FeR RIRE R

Hne Ht\ER HE R Bt

Note HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
ff & TR TR TErnr  Ti#ER
Executive Director HITES
Wang Mengyao (Chairman) T2E(EE) (i) 155 - - 155
Liu Mingging (Co-Chairman S|SB (B E X E
and Chief Executive Officer) 1T H &%) (if) 427 - - 427
Yuan Limin RyK (iih) 1,027 - = 1,027
Huang Zhifang BER (iv) 38 - - 38
Lu Xingwu e B (v) 31 - = 31
Gu Jianguo B (vi) 146 - - 146
Man Wai Lun X {2 B 120 - - 120
Pang Zhen BE 120 - - 120
Yan Ming = B (vi) 146 = - 146
Long Jinbo EEK (viil) 35 - - 35
Independent Non-Executive ~BYFHTES
Director
Yang Xilin 19 % I (ix) 146 - - 146
Lou Tao B8 (%) 35 - - 35
Zheng Yu & F (xi) 4 - - 4
Wang Zhenyu FRTF (xi) 4 - = 4
Wang Bruce Xianliang TER (xiv) 95 - - 95
Zhao Shawn Xiaohong BEL (xiv) 95 - - 95
Total st 2,624 - - 2,624
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3. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS 3. EERFETHAEME (&)
(Continued)
For the year ended 3/ March 2023 BE-_F--F-HA=1—HIFE
Salaries Contribution

and other to retirement

Fees benefits benefits scheme Total
Fek RINE A
wE HtEM ATl @t
Note HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
Pt & TERT TET TErL TER
Executive Director BITES
Yuan Limin RiR (iih) 1,705 - 13 718
Huang Zhifang BER (iv) 330 - 10 340
Man Wai Lun & B 120 - 6 126
Pang Zhen BE 120 - - 120
Non-Executive Director FHTEE
Fu Xiao Ji BB R (xii) 8 - - 8
Independent Non-Executive ~BYFHTES
Director
Li Li Bl (xii) 8 - - 8
Chan Man Kiu BXB (xii) 112 - - 12
Wang Bruce Xianliang ITER (xiv) 107 - — 107
Zhao Shawn Xiaohong BB (xiv) 107 - - 107
Total @t 2,617 - 29 2,646
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were paid for their services as directors
of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for their services as
directors of the Company.

The bonus was determined on a discretionary basis with reference
to the individual's performance.

Notes:

0) Appointed as an executive director and chairman on 9 August 2023 and 19

January 2024, respectively.

(i)  Appointed as an executive director, co-chairman and chief executive officer
on 22 August 2023, 18 December 2023, respectively and resigned as the co-

chairman on 28 December 2023, respectively.

(i)~ Appointed as an executive director and chief executive officer on 29 July
2022 and resigned on 23 August 2023.

(iv)  Appointed as an executive director on 31 May 2022 and resigned on 24 July
2023.

(v)  Appointed as an executive director on 28 December 2023.

13.

ESERTFETBRAEME(H)

LRARTESZHFMOAKEE
BARRRAGBEH 2R M
Xfte LAFERITESZHMT
RESERARAIENE QA
EEMREHE IR MmN - £t
BYFATESZIHFMOIAKS
ERARRESHIEH KRB M
XA e

RATI2ZEMNALREABEE
}\EO

) HUR-—E-=ENFNAAR-Z
—WME-AThBEEFEAHTE
ERXE -

iy HHUR=ZZTZ=FNA=+=H"
—E-=f+-At+N\BEZAA
BOTES BEIERITRER
HBER-_Z-_=F+-A=+NH
BRABEER -

iy RZFEZZFLtA-THHEZH
BRTEERTRAR  HERZ
E_=E\AZ+=BHF -

vy RZEBE__FRAA=+-HEZf#
RUTES HERZT-=F+t
AZ+MARE -

vy RZEZ=F+ZA-+N\BEZ
ERMITES -
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3. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS 13.

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(vi)  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 22 August 2023
and re-designated from independent non-executive director to executive
director on 19 March 2024.

(vii)  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 23 August 2023
and re-designated from independent non-executive director to executive
director on 19 March 2024.

(viii)  Appointed as an executive director on |8 December 2023 and resigned on
19 March 2024.

(ix)  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 23 August 2023,

(x)  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 18 December 2023.

(xi)  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on |9 March 2024.

(xii)  Resigned as a director on 25 April 2022.

(xiii) Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 25 April 2022 and
resigned on 31 March 2023,

(xiv) Appointed as directors on 2| October 2022 and resigned on 23 August
2023.
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ESERTFETBRAEME(H)

3

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

()

(xii)

(iii)

(xiv)

(&)

RZE-Z=FNA-FT-HEZH
ARBEUEHTES HERNZ-Z
THEZATNBERBUEHITE
EHTARNITES -

RZEZ=FNR=+=-HEZHE
ARELUEDTES HENRZ-Z
THEZATNERBYEHTE
EHCANTES -

R-ZB-=#+-A+\BEZHF
ARYNES HERZ-Z-WNF=
A+ABEE -

R-ZE_ZN\A-t=HEZA
RBUFHTES -

RZE-_=ZF+-_A+/\BEZ{
REBUFEHRTES o

R-E-_WNME=ZA+NLBEZTA
BUFHNTES o

RZE-__FNA-_+HEHEE
$ o

R-E-_—FMA-_+HBEEZT
EBIESTEE HERZ
—=F=A=t+—-HEfF-

RZE-ZFF+A=-+—HEZHE
BEE HBERZ-ZZT-_=ZFNA
“+=HEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2023:
one) director, details of whose remuneration are set out above.
Details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2023: four),
highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

13.

ESERTFETBRAEME(H)

FR-hARmRFHMEEEREC
H(ZEZZF:—R)EFEF
MaEtaEN X - BT=R(CZF
“ZHE MRFEARRTMESR
C USRI

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER FET

Salaries and other benefits HekHEMmER 1,816 3,052
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R /K 18 F 51 2] & 21 40
1,837 3,092

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

ABAMEN FUTEHE:

Number of employees
BEEAH
2024 2023
—E-NF =

Below HK$1,000,000 1K 721,000,000 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

1,000,001 7T 1,500,000/ 7T

During the vears ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals or
directors, as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

BE_T-_WNFR-_T-_=F=A
S+—-BLEE ASEYERTA
LRBHEATRES AT MM
CHEAEBRMBERMBEREEM
BTN RE L BREE-
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DIVIDENDS
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

Earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the profit for the year
of approximately HK$15,818,000 (2023: loss for the year of
approximately HK$25,192,000) attributable to owners of the
Company and the weighted average number of approximately
1,641,256,000 (2023: approximately 1,475,135,000).

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

The computation of diluted earnings per share not a assume the
exercise of the Company’s share options because the exercise price
of those share options was higher than the average market price for
shares for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive for the
years ended 3| March 2023.

g5
EETRENRBE_T-_MNFR
—E-_=F=ZRA=1+-HILFEK
AEMRARE

SREF(BA)
SRERN(EHE)
AARHEBEANBEEREREF
(BR)DREARAFEEAEN
REE R F 4158180008 T (ZF
Z=FAFE BB 4925192,000
B J0) & #91,641,256,0000% (= Z
=4 : #91,475,135,0000% ) o0 1 F
HEEE o

SRBERFN(FR)
FEHE_S-_WE=ZA=1T—H
LFEZ2BREZTRANEY &R
RARAI BREETR AR
REERECTEESR KD
e -

HE_ZT_=-F=-A=t—HLF
F Fﬂa‘ ERBRBEERE

488

Jt ¥
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. N¥E BERFRE
Furniture
Motor fixtures and Leasehold
vehicles equipment  improvements Total
B %ER
RE ®E HENREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TER
CoST AR
At | April 2022 RZF-—£MmA—A - 5,322 7213 12,535
Addition RE 19,786 121 93 20,000
Disposallwrite-off HE /i = (2,288) (7213) (9,501)
Exchange adjustments [ 5 5 & 65 (289) - (224)
At 31 March 2023 and | April 2023 R=ZB-=Zf=ZA=+-BRK
ZB-=EMA-A 19,851 2,866 93 22,810
Disposal of a subsidiary HENBAR (19,004) = = (19,004)
Exchange adjustments EHRE (847) (127) = (974)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-WE=ZA=1-8 = 2,739 93 2,832
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZHMERAE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At | April 2022 RZF-—fNA—-H = 492 7213 12,134
Provided for the year TEERE 2,308 351 19 2,678
Eliminated on disposal/write-off HMEREE/HE - (2,288) (7213) (9.501)
Exchange adjustments BHAE 8 (299) = (251)
At 31 March 2023 and | April 2023 R-ZB-=f£=zA=1-AR
ZE-ZHNA-H 2,316 2,725 19 5,060
Provided for the year TEERE 3,080 4 3 3,155
Disposal of a subsidiary HENBAR (5,319) = = (5,319)
Exchange adjustments ERAE (77) (125) - (202)
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=ZA=1-H = 2,643 51 2,694
CARRYING VALUES kAR
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=t+-H = 9 £ 138
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=f=A=+-H 17,535 14] 74 17,750
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 7. FHEEE
2024 2023
—E-NE ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER TAET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Land and buildings — T REF 3,080 -
— Equipment —&id 89 -
3,169 =
Lease commitments of short-term leases & Eifl & 2 & & E - 123

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, of the
Group's lease liabilities is as follows:

ERAMRAEREZAEEH
BERGEHHEAMMT :

2024 2023
—F-MmF St 2
HK$°000 HK$'000
TRER TR

— Less than | year —-PR—%F 908 1,927

— Between | and 5 vears —-—FFRHEF 2,513 2,546

— Over 5 years —RFENE 233 =

3,654 4473
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets i A1 & E T & !

— Land and buildings —THREF 448 1,368
Lease interests BEME 176 164
Expenses related to short-term leases REHERX 144 [,211
Total cash outflow for leases MERERLARE 1,602 2,675
Additions to right-of-use assets CRESEAE 3,642 5,343
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FTREEERERRE - 4,163
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 17.

The Group leases various land and buildings. Lease agreements
are typically made for fixed periods of approximately 2 to 7 years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

ERAREE#E)
AEBEEZRLHRET - H
EMERERMNEIFZETH
MV -HEGRRZRENEEE
B OEREEZBRIARAZERR
{6 5 o BB 1 2 I g 0T ] 2
w RHEEBETAAURERE
AR

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 18. RBEQATzER
2024 2023
—EB-MEF ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAETL

Unlisted investments: ELmEE:

Share of net assets DIEEEFE 25,982 26,100
Loan to an associate EF—RBERAIZER 11,073 [1,073
Impairment loss REEE (35,170) (35,170)
1,885 2,003
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INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

18. REtERNT 2R (E)

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had interest in the RZB_MER_ZF_=F=H

following associates:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

=+—B AEERUTHEAT
BEEL:

Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital/registered

Name of entity Form of entity and operation capital held by the Company Principal activity
ZMRL/ ARFBERTRE/
BERAW BERE BRUREEHH =t it & A< [H {8 A 4 b 4 TERH
2024 2023
—EC-NE —E-=F
BNEE(HBM)BIBES Incorporated  PRC 20% 20%  Research and
BRARA development of
software
& il B 32 & it & 8
BMNEREMELREM  Incorporated  PRC 30% 30% Research and

BRDAE*

development of
genetic testing

T B B f 3 B E i
& The Group’s interest in B M & s &£ 1 {5 8 B i1 A R A & was fully impaired & AEERBEMNEREMESRTE

during the year ended 31 March 2022.

BRARIZEZERBEE_T__F
“AZt-BLEEERYHE-



18.

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

For the year ended 3| March 2024 #Z

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's share of the

amounts of all individually immaterial associates that are accounted

FIEBREARAA
2024 £ FERS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R R R MG

18. AHE

TRME=A=+-RLEE

DNEIZER(E)
TRIFTAEES

3 16 B A (Bl 3

BERBERANBECEDSIEA

for using the equity method. fR) e
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TET
At 31 March: R=R=+—-R:
Carrying amounts of interests BamREE 1,885 2,003
Year ended 31 March: BE=A=t-HLEE
(Loss)/profit from continuing REREEB 2
operations (B18),/ & # (15) 288
(Loss)/profit after tax from ERIEREB2RHE
discontinued operations (B18),/ &7 - -
Other comprehensive loss Hipz2HE B (103) (h
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit 2E(ER)wfaE (118) 287
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9. EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 9.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ZRAMEZARSERDFES
RzREARE

2024 2023
“E-ME “EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TER
Equity securities MR 5
— Unlisted equity securities - LETRAE S
- IR ERRBERRARLA “ERFERRBERBRERAA 235 248

The above investments are intended to be held for the medium to
long-term. Designation of these investments as equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income can avoid the
volatility of the fair value changes of these investments to the
profit or loss. The I R BEXREEREBR QA used the
cost of the investment approximated to their fair value. The cost
of the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income approximate its fair value and is an appropriates estimate
of fair value since there is insufficient latest information available to

measure fair value, It REMBAKEBEBERHERAA] is stated as
fair value.
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MR - ELREETRERE
teEmREE A FEIRZBAR
REAEEREZATEEZDH
ERAKY RIRHEERE
EMRERRAIZHRAEMRTEE
AYERE ZREMEZERES
BRATEIIRZBRARENHKA
HEAQNFEME YARAFE
ZBERIT RARYTEEHK
MERANUGERAYE LERE
MRKEEMRBERRAIRATF
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INVENTORIES 20. &
2024 2023
—EoNE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TET
Liquor ik
— Raw materials — R E 173,706 -
— Finished goods — 2Rk S 22,899 =
196,605 -
LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 2. ERERRRE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TRER TET
Unsecured loan receivables and interest ~ EU & H H B R = 3,442
At 31 March 2023, loans to third parties of HK$3,400,000 bear N = :_¢ A=t—-B KT
interest at 5% per annum and are repayable within twelve months £ = 75 2 B 73,400,000/ T & F
from the date of drawing and thus classified as current assets. The MESEFE  BRIZEAE R
loan receivables are due for settlement at the date specified in the TZEAREE RS2 BERR

respective loan agreement. The loan and interest receivables were
repaid during the year ended 31 March 2024.

PEE BREREFRREBERH
BAMETCEHEMEE - BE
“T_MF=ZA=t-HLEHFE"
BRERKFECEE -

At 31 March 2023, loan receivables of HK$3,400,000 and interest RZE-_=F=A=+—H8" 4@

receivables of HK$42,000 arising from the same third party are

unsecured.

— % = 77’ & I & 53,400,000
7T K JE U F| 842,000 T A &K
oo
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21. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21.

The ageing analysis of loan receivables based on the loans draw
down date at the end of the reporting periods is as follows:

BRERKANE (&)
RESHR REFREREHE
DI ER 2 R DATIT :

2024 2023

—EC_MEF —T-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER FET

181 to 365 days 181 2365H = 3,400
Loan interest receivables: ERERFE:

Loan interest receivables represented interest accrued on the loan
receivables over due according to the terms of the relevant loan
agreements. The ageing analysis of loan interest receivables based on
the loans draw down date at the end of the reporting periods is as

FBUEFFEEREEDERD
BLBER AHERERAER
LB -RBERR REFR
DAEH2IREKRERFE 2RI
RIIBUNNE

follows:
2024 2023
—E-mNE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FETT
0 to 90 days 0%90H = 42

164



A

<

FIEBREARAA
2024 £ FERS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R R R MG

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 2. BREZREMERTE

2024 2023

—BRCMmE —B-=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

TR TAET

Trade receivables JE 8 5 A 79,654 118,305
Less: allowance for trade receivables B EWE S RIEREE (6,094) (972)
73,560 117,333

Prepayments and deposits BENRBERERE 59,315 119,184

Less: allowance for prepayments and BoBENRBRRESES

deposits (16,860) (17,628)

42,455 101,556

Other receivables H fth FE 1 X IE 18,550 4,151
Less: allowance for other receivables B b Uk R IE B (936) -
17,614 4,151

133,629 223,040

Included in prepayments and deposit are mainly advances to
suppliers for purchases of goods amounting to HK$56,166,000 net of
impairment provision of HK$16,860,000 (2023: HK$100,980,000 net
of impairment provision of HK$17,628,000).

For the year ended 3| March 2024, for the receivables from
healthcare services and trading of healthcare products, the Group
allows a credit period 0 — 365 days (2023: 0 — 365 days) to
corporate customers. For the receivables from sale of liquor, the
Group allows a credit period 0 — 180 days to corporate customers.

ENFREREETERERME
P E B YR B 356,166,000
T HIBR R (B % 516,860,000 TT
(ZF = =% :100980,000% T *
B 6l 1B B 517,628,00058 7T ) ©

BE-_T_MF=A=+—HIF
E AEEREREREEBRE
MBS ERRRBLETLERF
ZEEHAROE3SH(ZE-=F:
0E365H) - BB HE 2 EBU K
BEmE AKREARTLERFZE
EHA0ZEI80H °
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22.

166

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Allowance for trade receivables
The movements in allowance for trade receivables are as follows:

22.

BHREZREMEKRREE)

EhEZRERE
BURESRRRGBESOT

2024 2023

—E_NE —To=%

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTER THET

At beginning of the reporting period et ) 972 139
Allowance for the year FANEE 5,217 84|

Exchange adjustments bE 5, 58 2 (95) (8)
At the end of the reporting period R & B R 6,094 972

Aged analysis of trade receivables is presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period, which approximate the
respective revenue recognition dates, are as follows:

RESHR REZEH(EAH
WME HHEE) 2SI RN E S
RBZREROMMT

2024 2023

—E-mEF —FT_=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER FET

Within 90 days 90H A 53,685 -
91 — 180 days 91Z180H 19,151 110,208
Over 181 days 181 B LA £ 724 7,125
73,560 117,333

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the number of days past due. The expected
credit losses also incorporate forward looking information.

AEERBEERDHREERSE
IRMBTIELE RABRERES
REER2HRNEEEGEHE
RHEEERR RABRHEE
BR ERESREEREAR
WEERRBHELBHEHNA -
BHMEEBERTARAELEER
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

23.

Allowance for trade receivables (Continued)

22.

BUEZRHEMERNE L)
EBUEZREREE)

Over
-30 days  31-60 days 60 days
Current past due past due past due Total
gl jap:t B
B IZ308 312608 #iB60R #aat
At 31 March 2024 R-B-MFE=A=+-H
Weighted average expected METHAHERR
loss rate 0% 0% 0% 8% 8%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) FEUW 1B (F#& ) = = = 79,654 79,654
Loss allowance (HK$’000) BREEE(THET = = = (6,094) (6,094)
At 31 March 2023 RZZE-Z=5=HA=+—H
Weighted average expected MmEFLEIEHEIEER
loss rate 0% 0% 0% 1% 1%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) Y K IE(FHE L) = = = 118,305 118,305
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BERE(TET) - - - 072 (972)
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23. MITEHRRRE

As at 31 March 2024, the bank and cash balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$406,000 (2023:
HK$17,175,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

RZEBE-_NE=A=+—-H K
SENARBFEZRTRRAS
8 54060008 T (ZE - =F:
17,175,000 7T) - A R#& X N 7E
3B <F B AN B I
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24.

168

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 4. ERFESZREMENSRE
2024 2023
—EWE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FE T
Trade payables B E5NE 28,380 2,079
Accruals and other payables BB Rk E MR RIE 13,520 17,547
41,900 19,626

Included in accruals and other payables is the following provision for
litigation.

The amounts included provision for litigation of RMB3,957,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,289,000) (2023: RMB3,957,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,520,000)) in relation to a legal
claim brought against the Group by an intermediary for trading of
healthcare products, The provision is made based on a PRC court’s
decision. The Group is currently seeking legal advice for a further

appeal on the claim.

FE S & P R B 2B 8 45 A
THABE -

HEBEA—RFNARRBRE
MEERNASERBNEZRE
fE /) 3 70 % 5 A K 3,957,000
7T (& M 474,289,000 T)(Z &
—=F: AR¥39570007C (HHE R
#14,520,0008 70)) © Z B & IR &
FEERMREEL - AEER
BRESXEZELAURREEL
E—FEF o
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice dates at the end of reporting period:

24.

ENEZREtENRESE)
RBERAR REZAH2IE
NEZRBZEEINMT

2024 2023

—E-ME —ET-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER FAETL

Within 90 days 90HA 26,407 -
91-180 days 91Z180H - -
181 days to | year ISIREIF - -
Over | year E: 1,973 2,079
28,380 2,079

The credit period granted by suppliers is normally within 90 days as
at 31 March 2024 (2023: within 90 days).

AZE-_WNE=ZA=+—H {#E
BETZEERREAWER(Z
ZEZ=%F:90HRA) °
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25. LEASE LIABILITIES 5. HEER
Lease payments Present value of lease payments
HEMAR HEARRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“RINE —B-=F “RINE —B-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THER TET THER TET
Within one year —FR 908 1,927 774 1,765
In the second to fifth years, E_FEERF
inclusive (BEEREMF) 2,513 2,546 2,202 2,462
After five years TE% 233 = 231 -
3,654 4,473 3,207 4,227
Less: Future finance charges W RRIBER (447) (246) = =
Present value of lease liabilities HEAGBRE 3,207 4,227 3,207 4227
Less: Amount due for settlement B RERRINBEER
within 12 months (shown EHERRHER
under current liabilities) BT5IR) (774) (1,765)
Amount due for settlement RNEARBIBEESHE
after 12 months 2,433 2,462
At 31 March 2024, the average effective borrowing rate was 4.75% RZBE-ME=A=+—H" ¥4
(2023: 4.75%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract dates and thus ERBEMNERAT% (ZEZ=
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. F:475%) MR &K B E #
ToEEASEEEARTENX
Rl kg -
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. BNEE
2024 2023
—E-ME .
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER THT
Sales of liquor HEHEE 9,033 -
Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations unsatisfied at TEEFRRABTBRAZHHR
end of year and expected to be recognised as revenue in: SR BE A E AT 5 R
R
HK$°000
TRET
- 2024 —E-QWF 9,033
BORROWINGS 27. &R
2024 2023
—E_MF —T-Z=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER THT
Unsecured other borrowings H it &K B R 2,500 2,500
Within one year —FR 2,500 2,500
The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s borrowings are AEBEERNERNESGENT
as follows:
2024 2023
—ECMmF —T-ZF
Fixed rate borrowings T EMEK 5% 5%

Borrowing of HK$1,000,000 was due in December 2022 and
borrowing of HK$1,500,000 was due in February 2023. On 8 April
2024 and 19 April 2024, the Group entered into a repayment
agreement with the borrowers, both parties agreed to provided
liquor product to pay off the borrowings instead of principal. The
borrowings was settled in April 2024.

f& #1,0000008 TER =T ==
F+Z AZH - RAEF1,500,0007%
naﬁ_v__i AEH - R
“TMENANBEZZE-MFMN
H+na AEBHEERALE
TJ\Tﬁn&’xﬁHﬁﬁﬂ/@ﬁfzuu
ERET $@$i  fEFRER
_7_E¢Eﬂ |:|/IEJO

171

L\



A

King International Investment Limited

Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B S SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZZT_NF=RA=+—HIFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL

28. BRA&

Number of shares

BA#A
Notes '000 HK$'000
Pt & T i TET
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each RZE-_—_FWA—H"
at | April 2022 and 31 March 2023 “E-=f#=fA=1+—-HkK
and 31 March 2024 “T-ME=ZR=+-BZ
B H {H0.0578 7L 2 & i@ B 10,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each R-ZE-_-_FWA—HZ
at | April 2022 SREE0SE L 2L AR 1,285,025 64,251
Issue of shares upon share placing B0 e B AT (a) 257,000 12,850
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each RZEBE-_=%#=A=+—-HzZ
at 31 March 2023 FREESE L ZEEK 1,542,025 77,101
Issue of shares upon share placing B 1n Be & B AT R D (b) 160,480 8,024
Issue of shares upon share subscription R RERETRR (© 147,920 7,396
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each RZE-ME=A=+—H2
at 31 March 2024 FREBESE T ZEBMK 1,850,425 92,521

Notes: B &

(@  On 14 June 2022, the Company entered into a placing agreement with a @ RZEZZF-ATOEA - KRF
placing agent in respect of the placement of 257,000,000 ordinary shares of BRERBIVEERZ NEE
HK$0.05 each to independent investors at a price of HK$0.105 per share. 7 LA & 1% 0.1058 7T &) B & R B L
The placement was completed on 5 July 2022 and the premium on the 1% & & B £257,000,000 & R A&
issue of shares, amounting to approximately HK$13,515,000, after net of 005 T2 EBKR - ZEER-T
share issue expenses of approximately HK$620,000, was credited to the ZZFERRAARK BIORKHZ
Company's share premium account. i 1B #913,515,00078 7T (4 1 B % 17

B 47 H 496200007 TT) & A K2
AlZ R EEBR -
(b)  On 3 November 2023, the Company entered into the placing agreement by RZZTZ=F+—-A=H ARH

with the placing agent, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to place, through the placing agent, on a best efforts basis, up to
308,400,000 placing shares to placee(s) at the placing price of HK$0.06 per
placing share. The completion of the placing took place on 29 November
2023. An aggregate of 160,480,000 placing shares have been successfully
placed by the placing agent at the placing price of HK$0.06 per placing share.
The gross proceeds from the placing will be approximately HK$9,629,000, the
premium on the issue of shares, amounting to approximately HK$1,304,800,
after net of share issue expenses of approximately HK$300,000, was credited
to the Company’s share premium account.
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HEERBIVEEHE Bt
ARREERBEBRAERENEE
FRARERBEAAR ARERS
308,400,000k ELER D * BLEE A
FREERRD0ET - KEZHE
RZBEZZF+—A=ZFThHEK -
& $£160,480,0008% Fi2 € B 17 E B &L
ERBREEESRESR70.06
BTRWES BEZTHEMERE
AR 59,629,000 T © BT
10 2 % 18 91,304,800 7T (4 40 Bk
A% 15 % 17 % i #9300,00058 7T) 5 A
AARZBRDERER
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(¢ On 29 November 2023, the Company and each of the subscribers entered
into separate subscription agreements, pursuant to which the subscribers
have conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, an aggregate of 147,920,000 subscription shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.065 per share subject to the terms and
conditions set out in the subscription agreements. The completion of the
subscription took place on 12 December 2023. The gross proceeds from the
placing will be approximately HK$9,615,000, the premium on the issue of
shares, amounting to approximately HK$2,119,000, after net of share issue
expenses of approximately HK$100,000, was credited to the Company’s

share premium account.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and accumulated
losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly.
As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, issuance of new shares as well as the issue of new debt
or the redemption of borrowings.

28. BRAR(E)

M (&)

© RZEZZ=ZF+-AZ+HB A2
ANREERBATIBYNRE
HE Bl RBAEERERE
RE MARAEEKRHERER %
R 3174 ££147920,000 0% R B 17
REERTR0065F T EAXR
BREMHBERRGEERR - RS
EERZT-_=F+-A+=ZH%
o BEEHEMSRBELBEENA
9,6150008 7T * BTN .2 EEBLD
2,119,000 T (R MBGBRHETZ
{1 49100,0007% L) sF A K2 A 2
s B

ErERER
AEBEBRAEERNNREAEE
EREARELZ RAKEBE
LEBRBRAGEF KRR O R E
%1?m$¥°$EIZ%%ﬁ
BEE FE—1% 0 WEED o

AREZEAREREEHFEM
GRERREEEN RARFE
BEARGEZ(BBRERTRA
HERRFAER)

ARAIZEETHRAEARE -
ERRAZ—R ARAIEFERE
§$}i$&ﬁﬁﬂ*ﬁé$$ﬁﬁ52ﬂ
- AEERLEBEMNKRE
THBEARETHAEXRER 1
RFGEEREARE -
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29. RESERVES

174

(@)

29. B
Group @ A&KH
The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein AEENRZEEREREZDE
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss REIRNGEEZREME
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement AURERMGAEREDK
of changes in equity. A e
Company (b) EAT
Share Contributed Other ~ Share option  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
RAEE AABE ARG BRERS 2 ER ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TERL TEL ThET TERL THET
At 1 April 2022 W-E--%#mA-A 1,293,598 167780 5,518 17,136 (1410970) 73,062
Issue of shares upon share placing ROBERZTRG 13,515 = = = = 13,515
Loss and total comprehensive loss EREBR2EERAEE
for the year - - - - (167,630) (167,630)
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=F=f=1-H 1,307,113 167,780 5518 17,136 (1,578,600) (81,053)
At | April 2023 RZEZ=FEMA-A 1,307,113 167,780 5,518 17,136 (1,578,600) (81,053)
Issue of shares upon share placing Bk %1?%{ B3 1,305 = = = = 1,305
Issue of shares upon share subscription R AEEETRA 2,119 - - - - 2,119
Loss and total comprehensive loss ERERRZEBEAE
for the year - - - - (1,396) (1,396)
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-ME=A=1-H 1,310,537 167,780 5,518 17,136 (1,579,996) (79,025)
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30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF

30, ROEMBERREREE

2024 2023
—2_MmF —T-=%
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT TET
Non-current assets FRBEE .
Right-of-use assets EHEEE 367 -
Property, plant and machinery ME - WERES 100 156
467 156
Current assets & ﬁ%
Loan receivables &M B % - 10,448
Amount due from subsidiaries A = PNEIE | 570,880 557,384
Other receivables H fth & U 238 1,441 553
Bank balance and cash RITEHRES 49 588
572,370 568,973
Current liabilities MEBE
Amount due to subsidiaries NGRS 550,298 562,729
Other payables H h JE 1 5RIE 8,672 6,195
Lease liabilities HEAE 231 1725
559,201 570,649
Net current assets/(liabilities) mBEE/(AR)F8E 13,169 (1,676)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTDARE 13,636 (1,520)
Non-current liabilities EnBARE
Lease liabilities HEAE 140 2,432
140 2,432
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BE)FE 13,496 (3952)
Capital and reserves NS
Share capital B 92,521 77,101
Reserves & (79,025) (81,053)
Total equity/(deficits) B/ (B4 B8 13,496 (3.952)
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

On 18 September 2012, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “New Scheme") with an effective period of |0 years
commencing on |8 September 2012, The Old Scheme expired on 10
April 2012. The principal terms (including the purpose and participants)
of the New Scheme are similar to the Old Scheme. All other provisions
of the Old Scheme shall remain in full force and holders of all options
granted under the Old Scheme prior to such expiry shall be entitled
to exercise the outstanding options pursuant to the terms of the Old
Scheme until expiry of the said options. The total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the New Scheme and any other schemes of the Group shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issued as at the date of the
passing of the resolution on refreshment of the mandate limit of the
New Scheme on 26 August 2014.

The number of shares in respect of which options had been granted
and remained outstanding under the New Scheme was 86,040,000 as
adjusted to reflect the impact of share consolidation on 23 September
2020, representing 8% of the shares of the Company in issue at that
date. No option may be granted to any Participant of the New Scheme
such that the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to that person in any
I2-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the
Company's issued share capital from time to time unless shareholders’
approval has been obtained pursuant to requirements under the
New Scheme and the Listing Rules. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the New Scheme at any time during
a period as determined by the board of directors of the Company
and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. Participants of the New Scheme are required to pay the
Company HK$1.0 upon acceptance of the grant on the offer date.
The subscription price of the options is determined by the board of
directors of the Company in its absolute discretion and shall not be less
than the highest of:

3.

URBAER 2K

LARR R4 B B8 IR A 5t 8l
RZE——FALATN\B AR
AN — IR R AT &l ([ #hET 21 )
BE-E——FAA+/N\BRBFIOF
B - EFEER-_F——-FNA
+HE® - ?ﬁuJFzUZIEﬂKW\(
EEML2EE)EENEEMN-
ENEmBEMEXNAE TR
MO MRERIBEENER
HWZEBREZLHFREABER
LR ERR  REBEEE
Z%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ*gﬁZ%%%°

ATEREHFE RASE TR
ﬁ@%%%#%%%&ﬁz%ﬁ
%h%ﬁT ERITZIRDBEE
AHTBEBR-_Z—NENRA
_+AHL@E%E%ﬁﬁﬂ%
BREAZREAEETRN
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MErEBETEROERKRTER
A % P % & 3R 10 81 B /886,040,000
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 3.

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

(@) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheets on the date of the grant, which must be
a business day;

(b) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant; or

(¢)  the nominal value of a share.

The share option has no vesting period and exercisable from 25

October 2017 to 24 October 2027.

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share

URBRER ZARE)

URESEFERRETE(E)

@ BRORRHEH(BERER
B)EB RS A REXRHR
2 iE

by WHREERLBHIRE
RXHBEBIMBEERER
TRz FHRTE: %

© BhhZHEHME-

BRETARBY YAR-ZT

—+E+B-+hABE-_T -+ &

TAZTHBEETFRITE -

TREBBLF=ZTRAEZAR

options held by independent third parties during the year: AERERFANZEENR
Outstanding at Grand Exercise Outstanding
| April  during the year  during the year at 31 March
REA—A R=A=t—H
MATE AEEERL AFEENE W AT
2023 —E-=F 86,040,000 - - 86,040,000
Exercisable at the end of the year ~ RELR F1T{E 86,040,000
Weighted average exercise price MEFATEE HK$0.902% T N/A i NATER  HK$0902 7T
Outstanding at Grand Exercise Outstanding
| April  during the year  during the year at 31 March
REA-H R=A=t+-A
HATE AFEERE FFEEETER Ie R AT
2024 —E-mE 86,040,000 - - 86,040,000
Exercisable at the end of the year RERATAT6H 86,040,000
Weighted average exercise price MEFATEE HK$0.9027% 7T N/AT & A NATER  HK$0.9027% T

177

L\



King International Investment Limited

Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

nv—_F

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=Z-MNF=A

31

178

ClE A S EE:

=+-RALLEE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Fair value of the share option was calculated using the Black-Scholes

pricing model. The inputs of the model were as follows:

Grant date

B A

Fair value at measurement date
AERHcATE
Share price

RE

Exercise price
1THEE

Expected volatility

78 HA K 18

Expected life
i F B

Risk free interest rate

& g M) &

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility. Expected
dividend are based on historical dividends. Changes in the subjective
input assumption could materially affect the fair value estimate.

3. URGARERZARE)

DRELEEBRETSE(E)
%%%Z“$@Eﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁf
TR TEEAFE - B 2§
AEBEMT:

25 October 2017
—+&+A-+HH
HK$20,947,000
20,947,000/ 7T
HK$0.178
0.1787 T
HK$0.1804
0.18047%8 7T
11.14%

1.14%

10 years

104

.88%

.88%

REK IR DA E S K IR R KIR - T
BRI AE L BB BKIE - fd
TBEUBRRBAZBEMRED
REeUATEZAEEELAERX
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32. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

2. RERERERMF

FLOW
() Major non-cash transactions @ TEFRERZS
During the year, the Group received liquor products of RAEE ANEBRETH
approximately HK$43,744,000 from certain customers for F iz 45 3 4943,744,0007% 7T £
settlement of trade and other receivables of equivalent BEEMNEEEENE S
amounts. R E b JE Wt 3B o
During the year, the Group also received note receivables EFRN-RKEFRKHE TR
of approximately HK$51,946,000 from certain customer B LA FE U Z 38 451,946,000/
for settlement of trade receivables, and approximately THEEEKEZHE UK
HK$25,809,000 from the purchaser of a subsidiary for B EE33AT A - BB A
settlement of the disposal consideration as mentioned in note 7] Z B 75 #925,809,0007 7T JA
33. Such note receivables were endorsed to the suppliers for HEEHERB EHEWREZ
purchase of liquor products. BEBETHEBUEERR
HEM-
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) METBHELNEEEH
Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
EE HE&E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
At | April 2022 RZEZZFNA—H - 422 472
Changes in cash flows Rengs 2,500 (1464) 1,036
Non-cash changes EREEH
— Interest charged -FEXH — |64 164
~ Addition -NE - 5,343 5,343
— Early termination —RATALE - (239) (238)
At 31 March 2023 and | April 2023 R=BZ=¥=ZA=Zt+-HK
ZE2--ENA-H 2,500 4,227 6,727
Changes in cash flows ReRERE = (1,458) (1,458)
Non-cash changes FHEEH
— Interest charged -AEXH - 176 176
- Exchange adjustments -ENAE = (25) (25)
- Addition -HE - 3,642 3,642
— Early termination -RAKL - (3,355) (3,355)
At 31 March 2024 RZB-MF=A=+-H 2,500 3,207 5,707
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33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 3. LENEBAH
In December 2023, the Group disposed its interests in a non-wholly RZZE_=F+_F XxEBLE
owned subsidiary, It REA BEEE AR A A, which principal ERF2EMBRARLRES &
activities were healthcare products and services business. RERBARAANES LA
MEZEXBREREMREREE
% -
Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: REERHNMNEEFENT:
HK$°000
FRET
Property, plant and equipment mE - BERE 13,685
Prepayments B HIE 7,667
Net assets disposed of BEHEBEEFE 21,352
Release of foreign currency translation B Br SN 12 & & 1
reserve 39
Non-controlling interests IE 1 AR 7 5 2,302
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & B 2Rz s 2,116
Total consideration — satisfied BRE-NEKZEBEXHN
by note receivables 25,809
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE=ZZT-_MF=RA=+—HIFE

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members

of key management who have authority and responsibility, directly or

indirectly, for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the

4. BHARE
TEEEAEMSE
REBEEHE ARBIEEREM
ERFYBEEREREERE B
BREHNAEELEEH LT E

Group during the reporting periods were as follows: EBABZMEWT:
2024 2023
—F-MF -
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT TET
Short-term benefits 2R A 4,440 5,669
Post-employment benefits R A 21 69
4,461 5738

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

35. FEMBLATAFEE

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid Proportion of nominal value of
establishment share capital/ issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary Notes and operation registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
HRRL/ BRARGRRE/ ERAMKERATREEE/
MEAREHE ik RIREEHE HEREX ERUE-EN IERH
2024 2023
= e =H==F
Directly held subsidiary
ERREZHEAR
Tack Fiori International Group Limited BVI USs! 100% 100%  Investment holding
GEEREEERAR RERARE IR REER
Indirectly held subsidiaries
AEERZMELT
Life Healthcare Corporate Services Limited Hong Kong HKS! 100% 100%  Corporate administrative
services
B BT LEERRK
EM(ER)BEREBRARA (a) and (b) PRC RMBI,000,000 100% 100% Healthcare services
@k HE AR 1,0000007 R R
TRENBERRAERARA (2), (b) and (¢) PRC RMB6,000,000 100% 100%  Healthcare services
@ ke *+E& AR 60000007 R R
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

35. FEMEBLARFEE)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid Proportion of nominal value of
establishment share capital/ issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary Notes and operation registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
HAL/ BRARARRE/ KRAFKERATRAEE/
MEAREHE i3 RUREEHE  HREL EMEAL A IERHK
2024 2023
“B-QE =T==4
Allied Kingdom Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Money lending business
EBERERAR B 1007 7T FEXH
ANBRBARBERAR @) PRC RMB30,000,000 51% 51%  Trading of healthcare
products
HEl AR #30,0000007C REEMEE
FIREAEENRERAR @ PRC HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of healthcare
products
R 1,000,000% 7T REERRE
Life Healthcare (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HKS! 100% N/A Corporate administrative
services
ENBERE(EB)ARAA B BT TER CXRERRH
EDLE Group CO Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% N/A~ Trading of healthcare
products
EREEERAF e 10007 7C TER REEmEE
Life Healthcare Medical Laboratory Limited Hong Kong HKS$! 100% N/A~ Healthcare services
ENBERBERLA e 17T TER BERE
BNEBZARRRKERAT @ PRC RMBS5,000,000 100% 100%  Sales of liquor
i AR #5,0000007C BRHE
BHEIEARBERERAR @ PRC RMBI0,000,000 100% 100%  Sales of liquor
i AR#%10000,0007T BRHE
BHEEIARMBRBRAR @ PRC RMBI0,000,000 100% 100%  Sales of liquor
e AR %10,000,0007T BERHE
HEELRAEERAR (@ PRC RMBI0,000,000 100% 100%  Sales of liquor
i AR #10,000,0007 BERHE
CREEIARMBRBRAR @ PRC RMBI0,000,000 100% 100%  Sales of liquor
i AR#%10000,0007T BRHE
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 35. FEMBLARFR ()

Notes: B 5 -

(@  The companies were established as limited liability companies under laws of @ #ZELARBHEERKUSER
the PRC. EARQA -

(b)  No equity interests of Life Healthcare was held by the Company. 1t R & (b)y ARATEHBENEEZMRE-
FMiEEREERAF (the “EMAEFE"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the RZBE-—F=F-thB ARQF
Company, entered into the VIE Agreements with Life Healthcare and its ZEEMBAR LR EMEER
then shareholders on 29 March 202|. Notwithstanding the lack of equity BERAB([EMERE]) ZEMEE
ownership, through the VIE Agreements, 3 fl {# fZ is able to exercise &H%H%Zﬂﬁﬁﬂjvmﬁéﬁ o &
control over Life Healthcare Group by way of controlling the voting rights of BERENGREMARE EBBIT
Life Healthcare, governing their financial and operating policies, appointing ileWJ w ENREEEBE
and removing the majority of the members of their controlling authorities, BNBERZREREMATENER
casting the majority of votes at meeting of such authorities and deriving S8 EEHUBREERE %
economic benefits from Life Healthcare Group. Accordingly, Life Healthcare ERBEEERARB 2 RBHKE
Group is accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group. As all shareholders of WTHREBRBR 28R TRARZEZR
Life Healthcare were contracting parties to the VIE Agreements, 100% of the DRfeEMEREEBERLERE o
financial results of Life Healthcare Group s attributable to the Group. Bt  EMBESEEAREEL

HBARE ARENEEZS
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁwﬁﬁ%ﬁmﬁ WE
BECEHZI0O%HBEEZER

ZK% @
() This company is subsidiaries owned and controlled by Life Healthcare. © ZLRAREMBEERNEHZH
BRA -
36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 3. HEHERER
No significant events took place subsequent to 31 March 2024. RZE-_ME=A=+—-HELE

FLEBERFHE -

37.  APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 3. BEGEHBERR
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised BEMBRREN_Z_NFRA
for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2024. “tA\BEESEHAERKET
%o
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KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS TENKES
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_mE —T-=F T —E-—F —E-F
HK’000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
TER TET FTHET TET FHET
Turnover EXH 233,681 223,853 92,873 102,041 58,061
Profit/(loss) for the year KEEEMN/(BR) 15,114 (31,753) (37.318) (2,346) (23,723)
Profit/(loss) for the year KEERRM/(BR) 15,114 (31,753) (37,318) (2,346) (23,723)
Profit/(loss) for the year WTATREREE
attributable to: mHl L (EE)
Equity holders of the Company ARAEHEFAA 15,818 (25,192) (34,458) (4,583) (24,854)
Non-controlling interest 7 R = (704) (6,561) (2,860) 2,237 1,131
15,114 (31,753) (37,318) (2,346) (23,723)
2024 2023 2022 202! 2020
“E-_ME —ET-=F —ZT--F ZT-—F —T-TF
HK’000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
TER FHET TR FHET FTET
Assets and Liabilities EERERE
Total assets BERE 336,134 264,267 302,940 325,008 303,949
Total liabilities BRAR (70,085) (31,274) (39,556) (30,322) (54,405)
266,049 232,995 263,384 294,686 249,544
Capital and reserves BAK R
Equity attributable to IATA LG
— Equity holders of the Company ~ —ZARAEmFE A 269,847 237,505 262,283 290,582 247,431
— Non-controlling interest —rRER (3,798) (4,510) 1,101 4,104 2,113
266,049 232,995 263,384 294,686 249,544
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